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ANNUAL REPORT — 2016

OHIO VALLEY ELECTRIC CORPORATION

and subsidiary

INDIANA-KENTUCKY ELECTRIC CORPORATION

occ ev. (



Ohio Valley Electric Corporation
GENERAL OFFICES, 3932 U.S. Route 23. Piketon, Ohio 45661

Ohio Valley Electric Corporation (OVEC) and its wholly 
owned subsidiary, Indiana-Kentucky Electric 
Corporation (IKEC), collectively, the Companies, were 
organized on October 1, 1952. The Companies were 
formed by investor-owned utilities furnishing electric 
service in the Ohio River Valley area and their parent 
holding companies for the purpose of providing the large 
electric power requirements projected for the uranium 
enrichment facilities then under construction by the 
Atomic Energy Commission (AEC) near Portsmouth, 
Ohio.

OVEC, AEC and OVEC’s owners or their utility- 
company affiliates (called Sponsoring Companies) 
entered into power agreements to ensure the availability 
of the AEC’s substantial power requirements. On 
October 15, 1952, OVEC and AEC executed a 25-year 
agreement, which was later extended through 
December 31, 2005 under a Department of Energy 
(DOE) Power Agreement. On September 29, 2000, the 
DOE gave OVEC notice of cancellation of the DOE 
Power Agreement. On April 30, 2003, the DOE Power 
Agreement terminated in accordance with the notice of 
cancellation.

OVEC and the Sponsoring Companies signed an 
Inter-Company Power Agreement (ICPA) on July 10, 
1953, to support the DOE Power Agreement and provide 
for excess energy sales to the Sponsoring Companies of 
power not utilized by the DOE or its predecessors. Since 
the termination of the DOE Power Agreement on 
April 30, 2003, OVEC’s entire generating capacity has 
been available to the Sponsoring Companies under the 
terms of the ICPA. The Sponsoring Companies and 
OVEC entered into an Amended and Restated ICPA, 
effective as of August II, 2011, which extends its term 
to June 30, 2040.

OVEC’s Kyger Creek Plant at Cheshire, Ohio, and 
IKEC’s Clifty Creek Plant at Madison, Indiana, have 
nameplate generating capacities of 1,086,300 and 
1,303,560 kilowatts, respectively. These two generating 
stations, both of which began operation in 1955, are 
connected by a network of 705 circuit miles of 345,000- 
volt transmission lines. These lines also interconnect 
with the major power transmission networks of several 
of the utilities serving the area.

The current Shareholders and their respective 
percentages of equity in OVEC are:

Allegheny Energy, Inc.‘.......................................... 3.50
American Electric Power Company, Inc.*........... 39.17
Buckeye Power Generating, LLC^......................... 18.00
The Dayton Power and Light Company^.............. 4.90
Duke Energy Ohio, Inc.**......................................... 9.00
Kentucky Utilities Company^................................. 2.50
Louisville Gas and Electric Company^................. 5.63
Ohio Edison Company'.......................................... 0.85
Ohio Power Company***^....................................... 4.30
Peninsula Generation Cooperative’....................... 6.65
Southern Indiana Gas and Electric Company*...... 1.50
The Toledo Edison Company'............................... 4.00

100,00

These investor-owned utilities and affiliates of 
generation and transmission rural electric cooperatives 
comprise the Sponsoring Companies and currently share 
the OVEC power participation benefits and requirements 
in the following percentages:

Allegheny Energy Supply Company LLC*........... 3.01
Appalachian Power Company*^.............................. 15.69
Buckeye Power Generating, LLC^......................... 18.00
The Dayton Power and Light Company^.............. 4.90
Duke Energy Ohio, Inc."*......................................... 9.00
FirstEnergy Solutions Corp.'.................................. 4.85
Indiana Michigan Power Company^...................... 7.85
Kentucky Utilities Company^................................. 2.50
Louisville Gas and Electric Company^................. 5.63
Monongahela Power Company'............................ 0.49
Ohio Power Company^........................................... 19.93
Peninsula Generation Cooperative’....................... 6.65
Southern Indiana Gas and Electric Company*...... 1.50

100,00

Some of the Common Stock issued in the name of:

*American Gas & Electric Company 
**Columbus and Southern Ohio Electric Company

Subsidiary or affiliate of;
'FirstEnergy Corp.
’Buckeye Power, Inc.
’The AES Corporation 
*Duke Energy Corporation 
’PPL Corporation
^American Electric Power Company, Inc.
’Wolverine Power Supply Cooperative, Inc.
*Vectren Corporation



OHIO VALLEY ELECTRIC CORPORATION 
AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANY

A Message from the President

Ohio Valley Electric Corporation (OVEC) and its 
subsidiary, Indiana-Kentucky Electric Corporation 
(IKEC), were challenged in 2016 to improve 
operating and human performances to adjust to a 
very competitive energy market. We continue to 
invest in OVEC-IKEC employees because our 
employees drive success through improved 
operating metrics, cost control measures and 
innovative ideas to increase productivity. The 
OVEC-IKEC strategic business plan remains the 
road map for the future that will focus on our goals 
of being a safe, reliable and environmentally 
compliant provider of choice.

Safety

Safety is an integral part of the Companies’ 
values, where the safety and health of each 
employee comes first. In 2016, proactive quarterly 
safety self-assessments continued, helping to ensure 
compliance with internal Company policies and 
regulatory standards as well as increasing the 
knowledge of individual process owners. 
Employee Safety Task Force groups at all three 
locations completed projects and solved problems 
brought forward by fellow employees enhancing the 
progress of transitioning to a culture that leads with 
safety. The development of a Field Observation 
Coaching program got under way late in 2016 with 
the third quarter of 2017 being targeted for full 
implementation. Safety action plans, which 
included a renewed focus on the use of human 
performance improvement (HPI) tools and 
clearance procedure adherence, were developed by 
each location. Recordable and DART incident rates 
improved in 2016 from the previous year, with 
year-end rates being 1.64 and 0.75, respectively. 
The goal is unchanged, zero harm is the target.

Reliability

In 2016, the combined equivalent availability 
of the five generating units at Kyger Creek and the 
six units at Cliffy Creek was 72.9 percent compared 
with 64.7 percent in 2015. The combined 
equivalent forced outage rate (EFOR) at both plants 
was 8.4 percent in 2016 compared with 18.9 percent 
in 2015.

Through the first quarter of 2017, the 
combined EFOR of the eleven generating units was 
4.7 percent, with the six combined units at Clifty 
Creek operating with an EFOR of 1.7 percent.

Energy Sales

OVEC’s use factor — the ratio of power 
scheduled by the Sponsoring Companies to power 
available — for the combined on- and off-peak 
periods averaged 72.7 percent in 2016 compared 
with 73.1 percent in 2015. The on-peak use factor 
averaged 82.8 percent in 2016 compared with 
85.4 percent in 2015. The off-peak use factor 
averaged 59.7 percent in 2016 and 57.2 percent in 
2015.

In 2016, OVEC delivered 9.7 million 
megawatt hours (MWh) to the Sponsoring 
Companies under the terms of the Inter-Company 
Power Agreement compared with 8.7 million MWh 
delivered in 2015.

Power Costs

In 2016, OVEC’s average power cost to the 
Sponsoring Companies was $58,657 per MWh 
compared with $64,402 per MWh in 2015. The 
total Sponsoring Company power costs were 
$572 million in 2016 compared with $559 million 
in 2015.

2017 Energy Sales Outlook

For the first quarter of 2017, the demand for 
energy was lower than expected due to moderate 
winter temperatures and sustained lower natural gas 
prices. OVEC projects the energy market to be 
more normalized during the remainder of 2017. 
OVEC’s updated projection for 2017 is a combined 
utilization factor of 85 percent, which will result in 
energy sales estimated at 11 million MWh at a cost 
of approximately $57 per MWh.

Cost Control Initiatives

The OVEC and IKEC employees continue to 
strive to control costs and improve operating



performance through its continuous improvement 
process (CIP). Since 2013, CIP has obtained over 
$19 million in sustainable savings through 
approximately 1,500 process improvements. 
Employee-driven process improvements and a 
continued effort in hands-on skill development with 
CIP or LEAN tools throughout the Company are 
driving the sustainability of the continuous 
improvement efforts.

In 2016, OVEC-IKEC completed the 
implementation of Open Book Leadership (OBL) as 
a cost-control initiative to further improve our 
culture and overall business success. OBL is a 
management philosophy that focuses on 
empowering employees by providing them the 
information, education and communication 
necessary to understand how the Company 
performs and how they can impact that 
performance. The OBL process creates 
transparency of Company performance and engages 
employees in their ability to impact and improve 
key performance areas.

Environmental Compliance

OVEC and IKEC have a strong commitment 
to maintain compliance with all applicable federal, 
state and local environmental rules and regulations. 
During 2016, we operated in compliance with the 
Mercury Air Toxics Standards (MATS), the Cross- 
State Air Pollution Rule (CSAPR) and other 
applicable state and federal air, water and solid 
waste regulations. In addition, OVEC-IKEC has 
prepared to meet new ozone season NOx constraints 
that went into effect on May 1, 2017. We anticipate 
being well positioned to operate all SCR controlled 
units during the entire 2017 ozone season within the 
constraints we now face under the new CSAPR 
Update Rule.

OVEC and IKEC continue to market the 
gypsum generated from our scrubber operations as 
an agricultural soil amendment in both Ohio and 
Indiana. We also continue to explore the opportunity 
to market the gypsum for other forms of beneficial 
reuse.

Following the presidential elections and the 
transition to the Trump Administration, there have 
been a myriad of activities ranging from Executive 
Orders to regulatory actions involving several key 
environmental regulations impacting the electric 
utility sector. The regulatory actions include, but are 
not limited to, reconsidering the Steam Electric 
Effluent Limitations Guidelines (ELG) and

associated compliance deadlines as well as potential 
modifications to the Coal Combustion Residuals 
(CCR) rule. The Executive Orders issued have 
included actions to reconsider the Clean Power Plan 
and other environmental regulations. OVEC-IKEC 
plans to continue to monitor and evaluate the actions 
the new administration takes as a result of these 
Executive Orders and will evaluate their potential 
impact on future operations.

While the ultimate outcome from these actions 
is not known, OVEC-IKEC is anticipating that one 
or more of the initiatives undertaken by the Trump 
Administration could ultimately reduce, eliminate 
and/or change the compliance timelines for some of 
our future capital environmental compliance 
obligations.

In the interim, OVEC-IKEC continues to work 
toward implementing various compliance activities 
associated with the CCR rule and the Clean Water 
Act Section 316(b) regulations. In addition, OVEC- 
IKEC is continuing with studies to evaluate 
technology options for compliance with the Steam 
Electric ELG rules. We do anticipate that the next 
several months will bring greater regulatory 
certainty from the new administration, and OVEC- 
IKEC will have time to adjust its compliance 
strategies to align with any changes made by the 
new administration prior to requesting capital 
funding from the Board.

INTEGRATION OF THE OVEC-IKEC 
Transmission System into PJM

At the request of the Boards of Directors, the 
OVEC Operating Committee investigated the 
feasibility of fully integrating into PJM. The 
committee created a business case identifying 
potential cost savings, costs and risks associated 
with integration. At the December 1, 2016 Board 
meeting and on a subsequent Board conference call, 
the business case was presented, and the Board 
approved OVEC proceeding with an application 
and required regulatory filings to validate the 
assumptions in the business case. Once the results 
of these applications and filings are received, 
OVEC will report back to the Board with the 
results, and the Board will vote on whether to 
proceed with integration.

BOARD OF Directors Changes

In January 2017, Toby L. Thomas, president 
and chief operating officer of Indiana Michigan 
Power, was elected a director of IKEC following



the resignation of Paul Chodak. Mr. Chodak had 
served on the IKEC board since 2010. Also in 
January 2017, Lee E. Barrett, vice president of 
government and community affairs of Duke Energy 
Ohio, was elected a director of OVEC. At the 
OVEC Board of Directors’ meeting held on 
January 30, 2017, Mr. Barrett was appointed to the 
Executive Committee of OVEC. He succeeded 
John A. Verderame, who had served on the OVEC 
board and as a member of the Executive Committee 
since 2015. Also on January 30, 2017, David W. 
Pinter, executive director, business development of 
FirstEnergy Corp., was elected to serve as a director 
of OVEC and IKEC and appointed to the OVEC 
and IKEC Executive Committees, succeeding 
Donald A. Moul. Mr. Moul had served on the 
OVEC and IKEC boards and as a member of the 
Executive Committee of both Companies since 
2015. In February 2017, Lonnie E. Bellar, senior 
vice president-operations of LG&E and KU Energy 
LLC, was elected a director of OVEC and 
appointed to the OVEC Executive Committee, 
replacing John N. Voyles, Jr. Mr. Voyles had 
served on the OVEC board and as a member of the 
Executive Committee of OVEC since 2004.

Nicholas K. Akins 
President

July 18,2017



OHIO VALLEY ELECTRIC CORPORATION 
AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015_____________

ASSETS

ELECTRIC PLANT:
At original cost
Less—accumulated provisions for depreciation

Construction in progress

Total electric plant

CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Fuel in storage
Emission allowances
Materials and supplies
Income taxes receivable
Property taxes applicable to future years
Prepaid expenses and other

Total current assets

REGULATORY ASSETS:
Unrecognized postemployment benefits 
Unrecognized pension benefits 
Income taxes billable to customers

Total regulatory assets

DEFERRED CHARGES AND OTHER: 
Unamortized debt expense 
Long-term investments 
Deferred tax assets 
Other

Total deferred charges and other

TOTAL

2016

$2,739,103,561
1,352,933,437

1,386,170,124

14,638,632

1,400,808,756

47,810,728
37,443,514
76,387,854

872,920
34,857,142

3,118,299
2,822,500
1,998,372

205,311,329

4,273,382
37,128,152

41,401,534

498,536
119,002,376

2,700,000
78,637

122,279,549

2015

$2,714,054,292
1,292,775,251

1,421,279,041

29,848,655

1,451,127,696

19,292,573
24,192,150
81,362,765

33,060,141

2,850,000
2,112,757

162,870,386

2,526,541
27,889,880

805,988

31,222,409

669,463
119,760,106

70,658

120,500,227

$1,769,801,168 $1,765,720,718

(Continued)



OHIO VALLEY ELECTRIC CORPORATION 
AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015

CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES

CAPITALIZATION:
Common stock, $100 par value—authorized, 300,000 shares; 
outstanding, 100,000 shares in 2016 and 2015 

Long-term debt 
Line of credit borrowings 
Retained earnings

Total capitalization

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Current portion of long-term debt 
Accounts payable 
Accrued other taxes 
Regulatory liabilities 
Accrued interest and other

Total current liabilities

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Notes 3, 11, 12)

REGULATORY LIABILITIES:
Postretirement benefits
Income taxes refundable to customers
Decommissioning and demolition

Total regulatory liabilities

OTHER LIABILITIES:
Pension liability 
Asset retirement obligations 
Postrelirement benefits obligation 
Postemployment benefits obligation 
Other noncurrent liabilities

Total other liabilities

TOTAL

2016

$ 10,000,000 
1,170,781,545 

85,000,000 
8,805,462

1,274,587,007

248,483,907
33,642,452

9,858,927
11,610,328
25,389,872

328,985,486

32,986,336
5,433,716

13,507,852

51,927,904

37,128,152
33,044,921
39,218,090
4,273,382

636,226

114,300,771

2015

S 10,000,000 
1,168,723,858 

45,000,000 
7,866,994

1,231,590,852

295,659,471
38,614,644

9,564,756
17,522,792
21,954,895

383,316,558

44,780,419

11,219,680

56,000,099

27,889,880
31,249,839
32,235,745

2,526,541
911,204

94,813,209

$1,769,801,168 $1,765,720,718

See notes to consolidated financial statements. (Concluded)



OHIO VALLEY ELECTRIC CORPORATION 
AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND RETAINED EARNINGS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015

OPERATING REVENUES—Sales of electric energy to: 
Department of Energy 
Sponsoring Companies

Total operating revenues

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Fuel and emission allowances consumed in operation
Purchased power
Other operation
Maintenance
Depreciation
Taxes—other than income taxes 
Income taxes

Total operating expenses

OPERATING INCOME

OTHER INCOME

INCOME BEFORE INTEREST CHARGES

INTEREST CHARGES:
Amortization of debt expense 
Interest expense

Total interest charges

NET INCOME

RETAINED EARNINGS—^Beginning of year 

RETAINED EARNINGS—End of year

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

2016

$ 8,519,114
577,376,640

585,895,754

261,832,736
7,617,661

78,388,622
81,651,038
73,882,917
11,983,295

345,420

515,701,689

70,194,065

4,149,935

74,344,000

4,618,191
68,787,341

73,405,532

938,468

7,866,994

2015

$ 10,249,126 
555,079,943

565,329,069

246,581,580
9,550,459

78,772,695
92,750,351
53,502,810
11,358,562

286,972

492,803,429

72,525,640

1,508,078

74,033,718

4,434,468
68,763,979

73,198,447

835.271

7,031,723

$ 8,805,462 $ 7,866,994



OHIO VALLEY ELECTRIC CORPORATION 
AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

2016 2015

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

S 938,468 $ 835,271

Depreciation 73,882,917 53,502,810
Amortization of debt expense 4,618,191 4,434.468
Deferred taxes/refundable taxes 3,539,704 230,280
(Gain) on marketable securities
Changes in assets and liabilities:

655,288 3,149,486

Accounts receivable (13,251,364) 15,809,810
Fuel in storage 4,974,911 (37,027,336)
Materials and supplies (1,797,001) 1,439,572
Property taxes applicable to future years 27,500 (70,000)
Emissions allowances (872,920) -Income tax receivable (3,118,299) -Prepaid expenses and other 114,385 95,856
Other regulatory assets (10,985,113) 3,496,376
Other noncurrent assets (7,979) 50,219
Accounts payable (955,698) (16,588,072)
Accrued taxes 294,171 154,615
Accrued interest and other 3,434,977 (1,659,657)
Other liabilities 19,995,842 (13,905.092)
Other regulatory liabilities (15,418,375) 11,704,333

Net cash provided by operating activities 66.069.605 25,652.939

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Electric plant additions (27,580,471) (27,307,460)
Proceeds from sale of long-term investments 47,626,573 15,948,823
Purchases of long-term investments (47,524,131) (16,355,642)

Net cash used in investing activities (27,478.029) (27,714,279)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Loan maintenance costs (3,905,669) (3,358,557)
Repayment of Senior 2006 Notes (18,539,255) (17,503,483)
Repayment of Senior 2007 Notes (13,130,063) (12,384,167)
Repayment of Senior 2008 Notes (13,990,154) (13,112.545)
Proceeds from line of credit 69,000,000 102,000,000
Payments on line of credit (29,000,000) (77,000,000)
Principal payments under capital leases (508,280) (741,301)

Net cash provided by financing activities (10.073.421) (22.100.053)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 28,518,155 (24,161,393)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS—Beginning of year 19,292,573 43,453,966

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS—End of year $ 47,810,728 $ 19,292,573

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES:
Interest paid $ 69,458,491 $ 69,326,390

Income taxes paid (received)—net $ (76,578) $ 56,692

Noncash electric plant additions included in accounts payable at December 31 $ 268.828 S 4,285.322



OHIO VALLEY ELECTRIC CORPORATION 
AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS OF AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015

1. ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Consolidated Financial Statements—^The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Ohio 
Valley Electric Corporation (OVEC) and its wholly owned subsidiary, Indiana-Kentucky Electric 
Corporation (IKEC), collectively, the Companies. All intercompany transactions have been eliminated in 
consolidation.

Organization—The Companies own two generating stations located in Ohio and Indiana with a 
combined electric production capability of approximately 2,256 megawatts. OVEC is owned by several 
investor-owned utilities or utility holding companies and two affiliates of generation and transmission 
rural electric cooperatives. These entities or their affiliates comprise the Sponsoring Companies. The 
Sponsoring Companies purchase power from OVEC according to the terms of the Inter-Company Power 
Agreement (ICPA), which has a current termination date of June 30, 2040. Approximately 26% of the 
Companies’ employees are covered by a collective bargaining agreement that expires on August 31, 2017.

Prior to 2004, OVEC’s primary commercial customer was the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE). The 
contract to provide OVEC-generated power to the DOE was terminated in 2003 and all obligations were 
settled at that time. Currently, OVEC has an agreement to arrange for the purchase of power (Arranged 
Power), under the direction of the DOE, for resale directly to the DOE. The agreement with the DOE 
expires on October 31,2017. All purchase costs are billable by OVEC to the DOE.

Rate Regulation—The proceeds from the sale of power to the Sponsoring Companies are designed to be 
sufficient for OVEC to meet its operating expenses and fixed costs, as well as earn a return on equity 
before federal income taxes. In addition, the proceeds from power sales are designed to cover debt 
amortization and interest expense associated with financings. The Companies have continued and expect 
to continue to operate pursuant to the cost plus rate of return recovery provisions at least to June 30, 2040, 
the date of termination of the ICPA. However, during 2014, the Companies began reducing their billings 
under the ICPA in order to effectively forego recovery of the equity return and to pass only incurred costs 
on to customers through the ICPA billings. Additionally, in 2016, one of the Sponsoring Companies 
announced that it intended to exit its merchant business and that it may pursue restructuring or 
bankruptcy. The Sponsoring Company’s ownership and power participating benefits and requirements are 
approximately 8%. However, the Companies have the ongoing ability to access the credit markets to fund 
ongoing liquidity needs, and the Sponsoring Companies remain obligated to fund debt service payments 
when due.

The accounting guidance for Regulated Operations provides that rate-regulated utilities account for and 
report assets and liabilities consistent with the economic effect of the way in which rates are established, if 
the rates established are designed to recover the costs of providing the regulated service and it is probable 
that such rates can be charged and collected. The Companies follow the accounting and reporting 
requirements in accordance with the guidance for Regulated Operations. Certain expenses and credits 
subject to utility regulation or rate determination normally reflected in income are deferred in the 
accompanying consolidated balance sheets and are recognized in income as the related amounts are 
included in service rates and recovered from or refunded to customers.



OHIO VALLEY ELECTRIC CORPORATION 
AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS OF AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015

The Companies’ regulatory assets, liabilities, and amounts authorized for recovery through Sponsor 
billings at December 31, 2016 and 2015, were as follows:

2016 2015

Regulatory assets:
Other assets:

Unrecognized postemployment benefits
Unrecognized pension benefits
Income taxes billable to customers

$ 4,273,382
37,128,152

2,526,541
27,889,880

805,988

Total 41,401,534 31,222,409

Total regulatory assets $ 41,401,534 31,222,409

Regulatory liabilities:
Current liabilities:

Deferred credit—EPA emission allowance proceeds 
Deferred revenue—advances for construction
Deferred credit—advance collection of interest

$
9,722,972
1,887,356

103,091
15,416,432
2,003,269

Total 11,610,328 17,522,792

Other liabilities:
Post retirement benefits
Income taxes refundable to customers
Decommissioning and demolition

32,986,336
5,433,716

13,507,852

44,780,419

11,219,680

Total 51,927,904 56,000,099

Total regulatory liabilities $ 63,538,232 73,522,891

Regulatory Assets—Regulatory assets consist primarily of pension benefit costs, postemployment benefit 
costs, and income taxes billable to customers. The Companies’ current billing policy for pension and 
postemployment benefit costs is to bill its actual plan funding.

Regulatory Liabilities—The regulatory liabilities classified as current in the accompanying consolidated 
balance sheet as of December 31, 2016, consist primarily of interest expense collected from customers in 
advance of expense recognition and customer billings for construction in progress. These amounts will be 
credited to customer bills during 2017. Other regulatory liabilities consist primarily of postretirement 
benefit costs and decommissioning and demolition costs that have been billed to customers in excess of 
cumulative expense recognition and income taxes refundable to customers that will be credited to bills 
over a long-term basis.



OHIO VALLEY ELECTRIC CORPORATION 
AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS OF AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015

In 2003, the DOE terminated the DOE Power Agreement with OVEC, entitling the Sponsoring 
Companies to 100% of OVEC’s generating capacity under the terms of the ICPA. Under the terms of the 
DOE Power Agreement, OVEC was entitled to receive a “termination payment” from the DOE to recover 
unbilled costs upon termination of the agreement. The termination payment included unbilled 
postretirement benefit costs. In 2003, OVEC recorded a settlement payment of $97 million for the DOE 
obligation related to postretirement benefit costs. The regulatory liability for postretirement benefits 
recorded at December31, 2016 and 2015, represents amounts collected in historical billings in excess of 
the accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) net periodic benefit 
costs, including the DOE termination payment and incremental unfunded plan obligations recognized in 
the balance sheets but not yet recognizable in GAAP net periodic benefit costs. The Companies’ 
ratemaking policy will recover postretirement benefits in an amount equal to estimated benefit accrual 
cost, plus amortization of unfunded liabilities, if any. As a result, related regulatory liabilities are being 
credited to customer bills on a long-term basis.

Cash and Cash Equivalents—Cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of cash and money market 
funds and their carrying value approximates fair value. For purposes of these statements, the Companies 
consider temporary cash investments to be cash equivalents since they are readily convertible into cash 
and have original maturities of less than three months.

Electric Plant—Property additions and replacements are charged to utility plant accounts. Depreciation 
expense is recorded at the time property additions and replacements are billed to customers or at the date 
the property is placed in service if the in-service date occurs subsequent to the customer billing. Customer 
billings for construction in progress are recorded as deferred revenue—advances for construction. These 
amounts are closed to revenue at the time the related property is placed in service. Depreciation expense 
and accumulated depreciation are recorded when financed property additions and replacements are 
recovered over a period of years through customer debt retirement billing. All depreciable property will be 
fully billed and depreciated prior to the expiration of the ICPA. Repairs of property are charged to 
maintenance expense.

Fuel in Storage, Emission Allowances, and Materials and Supplies—The Companies maintain coal, 
reagent, and oil inventories for use in the generation of electricity for regulatory compliance purposes due 
to the generation of electricity. These inventories are valued at average cost, less reserves for 
obsolescence. Materials and supplies consist primarily of replacement parts necessary to maintain the 
generating facilities and are valued at average cost.

Long-Term Investments—Long-term investments consist of marketable securities that are held for the 
purpose of funding postretirement benefits and decommissioning and demolition costs. These securities 
have been classified as trading securities in accordance with the provisions of the accounting guidance for 
Investments—Debt and Equity Securities. Trading securities reflected in Long-Term Investments are 
carried at fair value with the unrealized gain or loss, reported in Other Income (Expense). The cost of 
securities sold is based on the specific identification cost method. The fair value of most investment 
securities is determined by reference to currently available market prices. Where quoted market prices are 
not available, we use the market price of similar types of securities that are traded in the market to 
estimate fair value. See Fair Value Measurements in Note 10. Due to tax limitations, the amounts held in 
the posiretirement benefits portfolio have not yet been transferred to the Voluntary Employee Beneficiary 
Association (VEBA) trusts (see Note 8). Long-term investments primarily consist of municipal bonds,
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money market mutual fund investments, and mutual funds. Net unrealized gains (losses) recognized 
during 2016 and 2015 on securities still held at the balance sheet date were $(509,314) and $(3,066,260), 
respectively.

Fair Value Measurements of Assets and Liabilities—The accounting guidance for Fair Value 
Measurements and Disclosures establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure 
fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities (Level I measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs 
(Level 3 measurements). Where observable inputs are available, pricing may be completed using 
comparable securities, dealer values, and general market conditions to determine fair value. Valuation 
models utilize various inputs that include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, 
quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets, and other observable inputs 
for the asset or liability.

Unamortized Debt Expense—Unamortized debt expense relates to costs incurred in connection with 
obtaining revolving credit agreements. These costs are being amortized over the term of the related 
revolving credit agreement and are recorded as an asset in the consolidated balance sheets. Costs incurred 
to issue debt are recorded as a reduction to long-term debt as presented in Note 6.

Asset Retirement Obligations and Asset Retirement Costs—^The Companies recognize the fair value of 
legal obligations associated with the retirement or removal of long-lived assets at the time the obligations 
are incurred and can be reasonably estimated. The initial recognition of this liability is accompanied by a 
corresponding increase in depreciable electric plant. Subsequent to the initial recognition, the liability is 
adjusted for any revisions to the expected value of the retirement obligation (with corresponding 
adjustments to electric plant) and for accretion of the liability due to the passage of time.

These asset retirement obligations are primarily related to obligations associated with future asbestos 
abatement at certain generating stations and certain plant closure costs, including the impacts of the coal 
combustion residuals rule.

Balance—January 1,2015

Accretion 
Liabilities settled

Balance—December 31, 2015

Accretion 
Liabilities settled

Balance—December 31,2016

$29,547,185

1,719,945
(17,291)

31,249,839

1,832,759
(37,677)

$33,044,921

The Companies do not recognize liabilities for asset retirement obligations for which the fair value cannot 
be reasonably estimated. The Companies have asset retirement obligations associated with transmission 
assets at certain generating stations. However, the retirement date for these assets cannot be determined;
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therefore, the fair value of the associated liability currently cannot be estimated and no amounts are 
recognized in the consolidated financial statements herein.

Income Taxes—The Companies use the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under the 
liability method, the Companies provide deferred income taxes for all temporary differences between the 
book and tax basis of assets and liabilities which will result in a future tax consequence. The Companies 
account for uncertain tax positions in accordance with the accounting guidance for Income Taxes.

Use of Estimates—^The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates.

New Accounting Pronouncements—In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) 
issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The 
standard’s core principle is that a company will recognize revenue when it transfers promised goods or 
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the company expects to be 
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. This standard also includes expanded disclosure 
requirements that result in an entity providing users of financial statements with comprehensive 
information about the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from the 
entity’s contracts with customers. In August 2015, ASU No. 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers (Topic 606): Deferral of the Effective Date, was issued deferring the effective date of 
ASU 2014-09 to annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018. The Companies will adopt 
the standard and all subsequent amendments in the fiscal year ending December 31, 2019. The Companies 
continue to analyze the impact of the new revenue standard and related ASUs.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases, which represents a wholesale change to 
lease accounting. The standard introduces a lessee model that brings most leases into the balance sheet as 
well as aligns certain underlying principles of the new lessor model with those in Accounting Standards 
Codification (ASC) 606, Revenue From Contracts With Customers. The new standard is effective for 
entities with fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, and lessees and lessors are required to use a 
modified retrospective transition method for existing leases. The Companies are in the process of 
evaluating the impact of adoption of this ASU on the Companies’ consolidated financial statements.

The FASB issued ASU No. 2014-15, Disclosure of Uncertainties About an Entity’s Ability to Continue as 
a Going Concern, in August 2014. This standard update provides guidance about the Companies’ 
responsibility to evaluate whether there is substantial doubt about an entity’s ability to continue as a going 
concern and to provide related footnote disclosures. The standard is effective for the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2016. The adoption of this pronouncement did not have an impact on the Companies’ 
consolidated financial statements.

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-03, Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs, 
which changes the presentation of debt issuance costs in the financial statements. Specifically, this 
amendment requires that costs associated with the issuance of debt be presented in the balance sheet as a 
direct deduction from the related debt liability. The Companies retrospectively adopted the amended
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standard effective January 1, 2016. The adoption resulted in a prior-period adjustment due to a change in 
accounting principle. The consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2015, has been restated to reflect 
this change in accounting principle. Debt issuance costs of $10.5 million were reclassed from 
“Unamortized debt expense” to “Long-term debt.” On the effective date of ASU No. 2015-03, the 
Companies made a onetime policy election to record costs incurred in connection with obtaining 
revolving credit agreements as an asset and to amortize these costs ratably over the term of the agreement. 
This accounting treatment is consistent with how deferred financing costs were accounted for prior to 
adoption of ASU No. 2015-03. Note 6 has been updated to reflect the adjustment.

In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-17, Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes, 
which amends rules regarding the classification of current and noncurrent deferred tax liabilities and 
assets. Specifically, this amendment requires that, for a particular tax-paying component of an entity and 
within a particular tax jurisdiction, all deferred tax liabilities and assets shall be offset and presented as a 
single noncurrent amount. The Companies retrospectively adopted the amended standard effective 
December 31, 2015. Adoption of ASU No. 2015-17 did not affect operating income (loss) or retained 
earnings in the presented periods.

Subsequent Events—In preparing the accompanying financial statements and disclosures, the Companies 
reviewed subsequent events through April 12, 2017, which is the date the consolidated financial 
statements were issued.

RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Transactions with the Sponsoring Companies during 2016 and 2015 included the sale of all generated 
power to them, the purchase of Arranged Power from them, and other utility systems in order to meet the 
DOE’S power requirements, contract barging services, railcar services, and minor transactions for services 
and materials. The Companies have Power Agreements with Louisville Gas and Electric Company, Duke 
Energy Ohio, Inc., The Dayton Power and Light Company, Kentucky Utilities Company, Ohio Edison 
Company, and American Electric Power Service Corporation as agent for the American Electric Power 
System Companies; and Transmission Service Agreements with Louisville Gas and Electric Company, 
Duke Energy Ohio, Inc., The Dayton Power and Light Company, The Toledo Edison Company, Ohio 
Edison Company, Kentucky Utilities Company, and American Electric Power Service Corporation as 
agent for the American Electric Power System Companies.

At December 31,2016 and 2015, balances due from the Sponsoring Companies are as follows:

2016 2015

Accounts receivable $36,035,316 $19,061,773
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During 2016 and 2015, American Electric Power accounted for approximately 43% of operating revenues 
from Sponsoring Companies and Buckeye Power accounted for 18%. No other Sponsoring Company 
accounted for more than 10%.

American Electric Power Company, Inc. and subsidiary company owned 43.47% of the common stock of 
O VEC as of December 31, 2016. The following is a summary of the principal services received from the 
American Electric Power Service Corporation as authorized by the Companies’ Boards of Directors:

3.

General services 
Specific projects

Total

2016

$3,978,358
1,562,412

2015

$3,292,439
2,258,624

$5,540,770 $5,551,063

General services consist of regular recurring operation and maintenance services. Specific projects 
primarily represent nonrecurring plant construction projects and engineering studies, which are approved 
by the Companies’ Boards of Directors. The services are provided in accordance with the service 
agreement dated December 15, 1956, between the Companies and the American Electric Power Service 
Corporation.

COAL SUPPLY

The Companies have coal supply agreements with certain nonaffiliated companies that expire at various 
dates from the year 2017 through 2021. Pricing for coal under these contracts is subject to contract 
provisions and adjustments. The Companies currently have approximately 73% of their 2017 coal 
requirements under contract. These contracts are based on rates in effect at the time of contract execution.
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ELECTRIC PLANT

Electric plant at December 31,2016 and 2015, consists of the following:

2016 2015

Steam production plant
Transmission plant
General plant
Intangible

$2,645,647,687
80,459,171
12,970,139

26,564

$2,623,003,141
78.044.293
12.980.294 

26,564

2,739,103,561 2,714,054,292

Less accumulated depreciation 1,352,933,437 1,292,775,251

1,386,170,124 1,421,279,041

Construction in progress 14,638,632 29,848,655

Total electric plant $1,400,808,756 $1,451,127,696

All property additions and replacements are flilly depreciated on the date the property is placed in service, 
unless the addition or replacement relates to a financed project. As the Companies’ policy is to bill in 
accordance with the debt service schedule under the debt agreements, all financed projects are being 
depreciated in amounts equal to the principal payments on outstanding debt.

5. BORROWING ARRANGEMENTS AND NOTES

OVEC has an unsecured bank revolving line of credit agreement with a borrowing limit of $200 million as 
of December 31, 2016 and 2015. The $200 million line of credit has an expiration date of November 14, 
2019. At December3I, 2016 and 2015, OVEC had borrowed $85 million and $45 million, respectively, 
under this line of credit. Interest expense related to line of credit borrowings was $1,692,301 in 2016 and 
$414,105 in 2015. During 2016 and 2015, OVEC incurred annual commitment fees of $335,376 and 
$505,526, respectively, based on the borrowing limits of the line of credit.

6, LONG-TERM DEBT

The following amounts were outstanding at December 31, 2016 and 2015:
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Interest
Rate 2016 2015

Senior 2006 Notes:
2006A due February 15, 2026 5.80 % $ 227,600,578 $ 245,132,192
2006B due June 15, 2040 6.40 57,576,242 58,583,884

Senior 2007 Notes:
2007A-A due February 15, 2026 5.90 102,311,927 110,522,644
2007A-B due February 15, 2026 5.90 25,766,254 28,055,674
2007A-C due February 15, 2026 5.90 25,971,422 27,834,043
2007B-A due June 15, 2040 6.50 28,752,657 29,262,260
2007B-B due June 15, 2040 6.50 7,241,073 7,369,412
2007B-C due June 15, 2040 6.50 7,298,730 7,428,091

Senior 2008 Notes:
2008A due February 15, 2026 5.92 31,932,971 34,492,978
2008B due February 15, 2026 6.71 64,641,227 69,698,688
2008C due February 15, 2026 6.71 66,463,125 71,449,681
2008Ddue June 15,2040 6.91 41,752,834 42,439,930
2008E due June 15, 2040 6.91 42,478,312 43,177,347

Series 2009 Bonds;
2009A due February 1, 2026 0.67 25,000,000 25,000,000
2009B due February 1,2026 2.29 25,000,000 25,000,000
2009C due February 1, 2026 2.29 25,000,000 25,000,000
2009D due February 1, 2026 0.67 25,000,000 25,000,000
2009E due October 1, 2019 5.63 100,000,000 100,000,000

Series 2010 Bonds:
2010A due February 1, 2040 1.86 50,000,000 50,000,000
201 OB due February 1, 2040 2.29 50,000,000 50,000,000

Series 2012 Bonds:
2012A due June 1, 2032 5.00 76,800,000 76,800,000
2012Adue June 1,2039 5.00 123,200,000 123,200,000
2012Bdue June 1,2040 0.42 50,000,000 50,000,000
2012Cdue June 1,2040 0.42 50,000,000 50,000,000

Series 2013 Notes:
2013A due February 15, 2018 2.27 100,000,000 100,000,000

Total debt 1,429,787,352 1,475,446,824

Total premiums and discounts (net) (505,664) (528,264)
Less unamortized debt expense (10,016,236) (10,535,231)

Total debt net of premiums
and discounts 1,419,265,452 1,464,383,329

Current portion of long-term debt 248,483,907 295,659,471

Total long-term debt $1,170,781,545 $1,168,723,858

17
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All of the OVEC amortizing unsecured senior notes have maturities scheduled for February 15, 2026, or 
June 15, 2040, as noted in the previous table.

During 2009, OVEC issued a series of four $25 million variable-rate non-amortizing tax-exempt pollution 
control bonds (2009A, B, C, and D Bonds) and $100 million fixed-rate non-amortizing tax-exempt 
pollution control bonds (2009E Bonds). The variable rates listed above reflect the interest rate in effect at 
December 31, 2016.

The 2009 Series D Bonds are secured by irrevocable transferable direct-pay letters of credit, expiring on 
November 14, 2019, issued for the benefit of the owners of the bonds. The interest rate on the bonds are 
adjusted weekly, and bondholders may require repurchase of the bonds at the time of such interest rate 
adjustments. OVEC has entered into an agreement to provide for the remarketing of the bonds if such 
repurchase is required. The 2009D Series Bonds are current, as they are redeemable at the election of the 
holders at any time. The 2009 Series B and C Bonds were remarketed in August 2016 for a five-year 
interest period that extends to August 25, 2021. The 2009A Bonds were secured by an irrevocable 
transferable direct-pay letter of credit at December 31, 2016, but were repurchased by OVEC on 
February 6, 2017. The 2009A Bonds are classified as current at December 31, 2016.

In December 2010, OVEC established a borrowing facility under which OVEC borrowed, in 2011, 
$100 million remarketable variable-rate bonds due on February I, 2040. In June 2011, the $100 million 
variable-rate bonds were issued as two $50 million non-amortizing pollution control revenue bonds 
(Series 20 lOA and 201 OB) with initial interest periods of three years and five years, respectively. The 
Series 2010A Bond was remarketed in June 2014 for another three-year interest period that extends to 
June 29, 2017. As such, the Series 2010A Bond is classified as current at December 31, 2016. The 
Series 201 OB Bond was remarketed in August 2016 for another five-year interest period that extends to 
August 25, 2021.

During 2012, OVEC issued $200 million fixed-rate tax-exempt midwestem disaster relief revenue bonds 
(2012A Bonds) and two series of $50 million variable-rate tax-exempt midwestem disaster relief revenue 
bonds (2012B and 2012C Bonds). The 2012A, 2012B, and 2012C Bonds will begin amortizing on June 1, 
2027, to their respective maturity dates. The variable rates listed above reflect the interest rate in effect at 
December 31, 2016.

The 2012B and 2012C Bonds are secured by irrevocable transferable direct-pay letters of credit, expiring 
June 28, 2017, and June 28, 2018, issued for the benefit of the owners of the bonds. The interest rates on 
the bonds are adjusted weekly, and bondholders may require repurchase of the bonds at the time of such 
interest rate adjustments. OVEC has entered into agreements to provide for the remarketing of the bonds if 
such repurchase is required. The 2012B and 2012C Bonds are current, as they are redeemable at the 
election of the holders at any time.
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In 2013, OVEC issued $100 million 2013A variable-rate non-amortizing unsecured senior notes (2013A 
Notes) to refinance and retire a 2009 series of notes. The 2013A Notes mature on February 15, 2018.

The annual maturities of long-term debt as of December 31,2016, are as follows:

7.

2017
2018
2019
2020 
2021
2022-2042

Total

$ 248,483,907 
151,483,806 
154,670,115 
58,054,470 

161,649,237 
655,445,817

$1,429,787,352

Note that the 2017 current maturities of long-term debt include $200 million of remarketable variable rate 
bonds. The Companies expect cash maturities of as little as $48,483,907 to the extent the remarketing 
agents are successful in their ongoing efforts to remarket the bonds through the contractual maturity dates 
in February 2026 and June 2040 and to the extent that OVEC elects not to repurchase the bonds.

INCOME TAXES

OVEC and IKEC file a consolidated federal income tax return. The effective tax rate varied from the 
statutory federal income tax rate due to differences between the book and tax treatment of various 
transactions as follows:

Income tax expense at 35% statutory rate 
State income taxes—^net of federal benefit 
Temporary differences flowed through to customer bills 
Permanent differences and other

Income tax provision

Components of the income tax provision were as follows:

Current income tax (benefit)/expense federal 
Current income tax (benefit)/expense state 
Deferred income tax expense/(benefit) federal

2016

$ 449,361

(115,669)
11,728

2016

2015

$ 372,943 
56,692 

(149,935) 
7,272

$ 345,420 $ 286,972

2015

$345,420 $230,280
56,692

Total income tax provision $345,420 $286,972
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OVEC and IKEC record deferred tax assets and liabilities based on differences between book and tax 
basis of assets and liabilities measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the 
differences are expected to reverse. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for changes in tax rates.

To the extent that the Companies have not reflected credits in customer billings for deferred tax assets, 
they have recorded a regulatory liability representing income taxes refundable to customers under the 
applicable agreements among the parties. The regulatory liability was $5,433,716 at December 31, 2016 
and $0 at December 31, 2015.

Deferred income tax assets (liabilities) at December 31, 2016 and 2015, consisted of the following:

2016 2015

Deferred tax assets;
Deferred revenue—advances for construction $ 3,404,026 $ 5,397,379
AMT credit carryforwards 8,837,712 12,030,465
Federal net operating loss carryforwards 104,723,266 88,071,534
Postretirement benefit obligation 13,683,150 11,285,916
Pension liability 11,721,810 8,457,343
Postemployment benefit obligation 1,535,562 884,556
Asset retirement obligations 11,569,073 10,940,744
Miscellaneous accruals 2,819,512 2,701,010
Regulatory liability—other - 171,113
Regulatory liability—asset retirement costs 4,729,118 3,928,073
Regulatory liability—postretirement benefits
Regulatory liability—income taxes refundable

9,670,762 12,515,434

to customers 15,096,997 15,393,198

Total deferred tax assets 187,790,988 171,776,765

Deferred tax liabilities;
Prepaid expenses (602,424) (626,595)
Electric plant (128,994,396) (112,357,167)
Unrealized gain/loss on marketable securities (3,694,091) (4,220,517)
Regulatory asset—pension benefits (12,998,618) (9,764,404)
Regulatory asset—unrecognized postemployment benefits (1,535,562) (884,556)

Total deferred tax liabilities (147,825,091) (127,853,239)

Valuation allowance (37,265,897) (43,923,526)

Deferred income tax assets $ 2,700,000 $

As discussed in Note I, OVEC indefinitely changed its billing practices in 2014 to effectively suspend 
billings for its authorized equity return. As a result, the Companies’ long-term expectation is that taxable 
income will be breakeven for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Companies have recorded a 
valuation allowance as of December 31, 2016 and 2015. During 2016, due to a change in federal tax law,
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the Companies reduced the recorded valuation allowance to reflect certain Alternative Minimum Tax 
(AMT) credit carryforwards that the Companies expect to claim as refundable credits in its 2016-2019 
federal income tax returns. The favorable impact of releasing the valuation allowance has been recorded 
as a regulatory liability that will be refunded to Sponsor Companies over a long-term basis.

The accounting guidance for Income Taxes addresses the determination of whether the tax benefits 
claimed or expected to be claimed on a tax return should be recorded in the financial statements. Under 
this guidance, the Companies may recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is 
more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based 
on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from such a 
position are measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized 
upon ultimate settlement. The Companies have not identified any uncertain tax positions as of 
December 31, 2016 and 2015, and accordingly, no liabilities for uncertain tax positions have been 
recognized.

The Companies file income tax returns with the Internal Revenue Service and the states of Ohio, Indiana, 
and the Commonwealth of Kentucky. The Companies are no longer subject to federal tax examinations 
for tax years 2012 and earlier. The Companies are no longer subject to State of Indiana tax examinations 
for tax years 2012 and earlier. The Companies are no longer subject to Ohio and the Commonwealth of 
Kentucky examinations for tax years 2011 and earlier. The Companies have $299,209,332 of Federal Net 
Operating Loss carryovers that begin to expire in 2031.

8. PENSION PLAN, OTHER POSTRETIREMENT AND POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

The Companies have a noncontributory qualified defined benefit pension plan (the Pension Plan) covering 
substantially all of their employees hired prior to January 1, 2015. The benefits are based on years of 
service and each employee’s highest consecutive 36-month compensation period. Employees are vested in 
the Pension Plan after five years of service with the Companies.

Funding for the Pension Plan is based on actuarially determined contributions, the maximum of which is 
generally the amount deductible for income tax purposes and the minimum being that required by the 
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

In addition to the Pension Plan, the Companies provide certain health care and life insurance benefits 
(Other Postretirement Benefits) for retired employees. Substantially, all of the Companies’ employees 
hired prior to January 1, 2015, become eligible for these benefits if they reach retirement age while 
working for the Companies. These and similar benefits for active employees are provided through 
employer funding and insurance policies. In December 2004, the Companies established VEBA tmsts. In 
January 2011, the Companies established an Internal Revenue Code Section 401(h) account under the 
Pension Plan.

The full cost of the pension benefits and other postretirement benefits has been allocated to OVEC and 
IKEC in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The allocated amounts represent 
approximately a 56% and 44% split between OVEC and IKEC, respectively, as of December 31, 2016, 
and approximately a 55% and 45% split between OVEC and IKEC, respectively, as of December 31, 
2015.
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The Pension Plan’s assets is of December 31, 2016, consist of investments in equity and debt securities. 
All of the trust funds’ investments for the pension and postemployment benefit plans are diversified and 
managed in compliance with all laws and regulations. Management regularly reviews the actual asset 
allocation and periodically rebalances the investments to targeted allocation when appropriate. The 
investments are reported at fair value under the Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures accounting 
guidance.

All benefit plan assets are invested in accordance with each plan’s investment policy. The investment 
policy outlines the investment objectives, strategies, and target asset allocations by plan. Benefit plan 
assets are reviewed on a formal basis each quarter by the OVEC-IKEC Qualified Plan Trust Committee.

The investment philosophies for the benefit plans support the allocation of assets to minimize risks and 
optimize net returns.

Investment strategies include:

• Maintaining a long-term investment horizon.
• Diversifying assets to help control volatility of returns at acceptable levels.
• Managing fees, transaction costs, and tax liabilities to maximize investment earnings.
• Using active management of investments where appropriate risk/retum opportunities exist.
• Keeping portfolio structure style neutral to limit volatility compared to applicable benchmarks.

The target asset allocation for each portfolio is as follows:

Pension Plan Assets

Domestic equity 
International and global equity 
Fixed income

Target

15 % 
15 % 
70 %

VESA Plan Assets

Domestic equity 
International and global equity 
Fixed income 
Cash

Target

20 % 
20 % 
57 % 

3 %

Each benefit plan contains various investment limitations. These limitations are described in the 
investment policy statement and detailed in customized investment guidelines. These investment 
guidelines require appropriate portfolio diversification and define security concentration limits. Each 
investment manager’s portfolio is compared to an appropriate diversified benchmark index.

Equity investment limitations:

• No security in excess of 5% of all equities.
• Cash equivalents must be less than 10% of each investment manager’s equity portfolio.
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• Individual securities must be less than 15% of each manager’s equity portfolio.
• No investment in excess of 5% of an outstanding class of any company.
• No securities may be bought or sold on margin or other use of leverage.

Fixed Income Limitations—As of December 31, 2016, the Pension Plan fixed income allocation consists 
of managed accounts composed of U.S. Government, corporate, and municipal obligations. The VESA 
benefit plans’ fixed income allocation is composed of a variety of fixed income securities and mutual 
funds. Investment limitations for these fixed income funds are defined by manager prospectus.

Cash Limitations—Cash and cash equivalents are held in each trust to provide liquidity and meet short 
term cash needs. Cash equivalent funds are used to provide diversification and preserve principal. The 
underlying holdings in the cash funds are investment grade money market instruments, including money 
market mutual funds, certificates of deposit, treasury bills, and other types of investment-grade short-term 
debt securities. The cash funds are valued each business day and provide daily liquidity.

Projected Pension Plan and Other Postretirement Benefits obligations and funded status as of 
December 31,2016 and 2015, are as follows:

Pension Plan
Other

Postretirement Benefits
2016 2015 2016 2015

Change in projected benefit obligation:
Projected benefit obligation—beginning
of year $210,230,403 $222,823,889 $159,175,000 $171,774,437

Service cost 6,100,517 6,989,504 4,668,640 5,327,376
Interest cost 10,010,361 9,407,555 7,490,213 7,254,699
Plan participants’ contributions - - 1,242,428 1,205,258
Benefits paid (8,968,048) (7,946,163) (5,477,750) (4,725,510)
Net actuarial (gain)/loss 15,674,831 (20,959,580) 7,239,951 (21,661,260)
Expenses paid from assets (49,905) (84,802) - -

Projected benefit obligation—end
ofyear 232,998,159 210,230,403 174,338,482 159,175,000

Change in fair value of plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets—beginning
of year 182,340,523 190,348,243 126,939,255 126,898,685

Actual return on plan assets 16,380,770 (5,110,088) 7,972,778 (1,050,162)
Expenses paid from assets (49,905) (84,802) - -
Employer contributions 6,166,667 5,133,333 4,443,681 4,610,984
Plan participants’ contributions - - 1,242,428 1,205,258
Benefits paid (8,968,048) (7,946,163) (5,477,750) (4,725,510)

Fair value of plan assets—end
of year 195,870,007 182,340,523 135,120,392 126,939,255

(Underfunded) status—end of year $ (37,128,152) $ (27,889,880) $ (39,218,090) $ (32,235,745)

See Note 1 for infomiation regarding regulatory assets related to the Pension Plan and Other 
Postretirement Benefits plan.
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The accumulated benefit obligation for the Pension Plan was $208,284,000 and $186,842,491 at 
December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost—The Companies record the expected cost of Other 
Postretirement Benefits over the service period during which such benefits are earned.

Pension expense is recognized as amounts are contributed to the Pension Plan and billed to customers. 
The accumulated difference between recorded pension expense and the yearly net periodic pension 
expense, as calculated under the accounting guidance for Compensation—Retirement Benefits, is billable 
as a cost of operations under the ICPA when contributed to the pension fund. This accumulated difference 
has been recorded as a regulatory asset in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Pension Plan
Other Postretirement 

Benefits
2016 2015 2016 2015

Service cost $ 6,100,517 $ 6.989,504 $ 4,668,640 $ 5,327,376
Interest cost 10,010,361 9,407,555 7,490,213 7,254,699
Expected return on plan assets (10,904,733) (11,363,279) (6,719,397) (6,857,348)
Amortization of prior service cost (416,565) (416,565) (1,763,901) (1,763,901)
Recognized actuarial loss 643,503 882,076 (75,802) (12,653)

Total benefit cost $ 5,433,083 S 5,499,291 $ 3,599,753 $ 3,948,173

Pension and other postretirement benefits 
expense recognized in the consolidated 
statements of income and retained earnings 
and billed to Sponsoring Companies 
under the ICPA $ 6,166,667 $ 5,133,333
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The following table presents the classification of Pension Plan assets within the fair value hierarchy at 
December 31,2016 and 2015:

Fair Value Measurements at 
Reporting Date Using

Quoted Prices significant
in Active Other Significant

Market for Observable Unobservable
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs 2016

2016 {Level 1] (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

E>omestic equity mutual Amds $ 16,007,602 S . $ S 16,007,602
Common stock—domestic 8,501,931 - - 8,501,931
Common stock—foreign 554,648 - - 554.648
International and global equity mutual funds 24,249,523 - - 24,249.523
Cash equivalents 6,727,436 - - 6,727,436
U.S. Treasury securities - 8,886,917 - 8,886,917
Corporate debt securities - 109,890,354 - 109,890,354
Municipal debt securities - 8,933,969 - 8,933.969

Subtotal Benefit Plan Assets $ 56.041,140 s 127,711,240 S 183.752,380

Investments measured at net asset value (NAV) 12,117,627

Total Benefit Plan Assets $ 195.870.007

2015 -
Domestic equity mutual funds S 14,335,609 s . $ $ 14,335,609
Common stock—domestic 7,055,019 - - 7,055,019
Common stock—foreign - - - -
International and global equity mutual fluids 22,176,739 - - 22,176,739
Cash equivalents 4,504,117 - - 4,504,117
U.S. Treasury securities - 6,685,068 - 6,685,068
Corporate debt securities - 107,733,562 - 107,733,562
Municipal debt securities - 8.607.765 - 8.607.765

Subtotal Benefit Plan Assets S 48,071,484 $ 123,026,395 $ 171,097,879

Investments measured at net asset value (NAV) 

Total Benefit Plan Assets

11.242,644

$ 182,340,523
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The following table presents the classification of VEBA and 401(h) account assets within the fair value 
hierarchy at December 31,2016 and 2015:

2016

Domestic equity mutual funds 
International and global equity mutual fimds 
Fixed-income mutual funds 
Fixed-income securities 
Cash equivalents

Benefit Plan Assets

Uncleared cash disbursements from benefits paid 
Investments measured at net asset value (NAV)

Total Benefit Plan Assets

2015

Fair Value Measurements at 
Reporting Date Using

Quoted Prices 
in Active 

Market for 
Identical Assets 

(Level 1)

S 45,270,259
23,375,504
41,750,065

728,483

$ 111,124,311

Significant
Other

Observable 
Inputs 

(Level 2)

S

18,611,238

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs 
(Level 3)

$

$18,611,238 $

2016
Total

$ 45,270,259 
23,375,504 
41,750,065 
18,611,238 

728,483

129,735,549

(1,601,641)
6,986,484

$ 135.120,392

Domestic equity mutual funds S 41,553,682
International and global equity mutual funds 20,442,372
Fixed-income mutual funds 39,627,128
Fixed-income securities
Cash equivalents  257,086

Benefit Plan Assets $ 101,880,268

Investments measured at net asset value (NAV)

Total Benefit Plan Assets

18,407,810

$ 18,407,810 $

$ 41,553,682 
20,442,372 
39,627,128 
18,407,810 

257,086

120,288,078

6,651,177 

$ 126,939,255

Investments that were measured at net asset value (NAV) per share (or its equivalent) as a practical 
expedient have not been classified in the fair value hierarchy. These investments represent holdings in a 
single private investment fund that are redeemable at the election of the holder upon no more than 
30 days’ notice. The values reported above are based on information provided by the fund manager.
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Pension Plan and Other Postretirement Benefit Assumptions—Actuarial assumptions used to 
determine benefit obligations at December 31,2016 and 2015, were as follows:

Pension Plan Other Postretirement Benefits
2016 2015 2016 2015

Medical Life Medical Life

Discount rate 4.31 % 4.82 % 4.31 % 4.31 % 4.80 % 4.80 %
Rate of compensation increase 3.00 3.00 N/A 3.00 N/A 3.00

Actuarial assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for the years ended December 31, 2016 
and 2015, were as follows:

Pension Plan Other Postretirement Benefits
2016 2015 2016 2015

Medical Life Medical Life

Discount rate 4.82 % 4.28 % 4.80 % 4.80 % 4.33 % 4.33 %
Expected long-term return on
plan assets 6.00 6.00 5.29 6.00 5.29 6.00

Rate of compensation increase 3.00 3.00 N/A 3.00 N/A 3.00

In selecting the expected long-term rate of return on assets, the Companies considered the average rate of 
earnings expected on the funds invested to provide for plan benefits. This included considering the 
Pension Plan and VEBA trusts’ asset allocation, and the expected returns likely to be earned over the life 
of the Pension Plan and the VEBAs.

Assumed health care cost trend rates at December 31,2016 and 2015, were as follows:

Health care trend rate assumed for next year—participants under 65 
Health care trend rate assumed for next year—^participants over 65 
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (the ultimate 

trend rate)—participants under 65 
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (the ultimate 

trend rate)—participants over 65 
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate

2016 2015

7.00 % 7.00 %
7.00 7.00

5.00 5.00

5.00 5.00
2022 2022
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Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the health care 
plans. A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following 
effects:

One-Percentage One-Percentage 
Point Increase Point Decrease

Effect on total service and interest cost 
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation

S 2,353,599 
29,092,165

$ (1,869,850) 
(22,937,519)

Pension Plan and Other Postretirement Benefit Assets—^The asset allocation for the Pension Plan and 
VEBA trusts at December 31, 2016 and 2015, by asset category was as follows:

Pension Plan
2016 2015

VEBA Trusts
2016 2015

Asset category: 
Equity securities 
Debt securities

31 % 
69

30 % 
70

40 % 
60

38 % 
62

Pension Plan and Other Postretirement Benefit Contributions—The Companies expect to contribute 
$6,000,000 to their Pension Plan and $5,166,759 to their Other Postretirement Benefits plan in 2017.

Estimated Future Benefit Payments—^The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future 
service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid:

Years Ending 
December 31

Pension
Plan

Other
Postretirement

Benefits

2017
2018
2019
2020 
2021
Five years thereafter

$ 7,987,611 
8,626,513 
9,532,649 

10,365,968 
11,241,424 
67,777,423

$ 6,730,248 
7,159,952 
7,689,832 
8,213,128 
8,668,791 

51,882,547

Postempioyment Benefits—The Companies follow the accounting guidance in FASB ASC712, 
Compensation—Non-Retirement Postempioyment Benefits, and accrue the estimated cost of benefits 
provided to former or inactive employees after employment but before retirement. Such benefits include, 
but are not limited to, salary continuations, supplemental unemployment, severance, disability (including 
workers’ compensation), job training, counseling, and continuation of benefits, such as health care and life 
insurance coverage. The cost of such benefits and related obligations has been allocated to OVEC and 
IK.EC in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The allocated amounts represent 
approximately a 59% and 41% split between OVEC and IKEC, respectively, as of December 31, 2016, 
and approximately a 36% and 64% split between OVEC and IKEC, respectively, as of December 31,
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2015. The liability is offset with a corresponding regulatory asset and represents unrecognized 
postemployment benefits billable in the future to customers. The accrued cost of such benefits was 
$4,273,362 and $2,526,541 at December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Defined Contribution Plan—The Companies have a trustee-defined contribution supplemental pension 
and savings plan that includes 401(k) features and is available to employees who have met eligibility 
requirements. The Companies’ contributions to the savings plan equal 100% of the first 1% and 50% of 
the next 5% of employee-participants’ pay contributed. In addition, the Companies provide contributions 
to eligible employees, hired on or after January 1, 2015, of 3% to 5% of pay based on age and service. 
Benefits to participating employees are based solely upon amounts contributed to the participants’ 
accounts and investment earnings. By its nature, the plan is fully funded at all times. The employer 
contributions for 2016 and 2015 were $1,985,582 and $2,047,129, respectively.

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

Title IV of the 1990 Clean Air Act Amendments (CAAAs) required the Companies to reduce sulfur 
dioxide (SO2) emissions in two phases: Phase I in 1995 and Phase II in 2000. The Companies selected a 
fuel switching strategy to comply with the emission reduction requirements. The Companies also 
purchased additional SO2 allowances. Historically, the cost of these purchased allowances has been 
inventoried and included on an average cost basis in the cost of fuel consumed when used.

Title IV of the 1990 CAAAs also required the Companies to comply with a nitrogen oxides (NOx) 
emission rate limit of 0.84 Ib/mmBtu in 2000. The Companies installed overfire air systems on all 11 units 
at the plants to comply with this limit. The total capital cost of the 11 oveifire air systems was 
approximately $8.2 million.

During 2002 and 2003, Ohio and Indiana finalized respective NO* State Implementation Plan (SIP) Call 
regulations that required further significant NOx emission reductions for coal-burning power plants during 
the ozone control period. The Companies installed selective catalytic reduction (SCR) systems on 10 of 
their 11 units to comply with these rules. The total capital cost of the 10 SCR systems was approximately 
$355 million.

On March 10, 2005, the United States Environmental Protection Agency (the U.S. EPA) issued the Clean 
Air Interstate Rule (CAIR) that required further significant reductions of SO2 and NOx emissions from 
coal-burning power plants. On March 15, 2005, the U.S. EPA also issued the Clean Air Mercui^ Rule 
(CAMR) that required significant mercury emission reductions for coal-burning power plants. These 
emission reductions were required in two phases: 2009 and 2015 for NO*; 2010 and 2015 for SO2; and 
2010 and 2018 for mercury. Ohio and Indiana subsequently finalized their respective versions of CAIR 
and CAMR. In response, the Companies determined that it would be necessary to install flue gas 
desulfurization (FGD) systems at both plants to comply with these new rules. Following completion of the 
necessary engineering and permitting, construction was started on the new FGD systems.

In February 2008, the D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals issued a decision which vacated the federal CAMR 
and remanded the rule to the U.S. EPA with a determination that the rule be rewritten under the maximum 
achievable control technologies (MACT) provision of Section 112(d) of the Clean Air Act. A group of 
electric utilities and the U.S. EPA requested a rehearing of the decision, which was denied by the Court. 
Following those denials, both the group of electric utilities and the U.S. EPA requested that the U.S.
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Supreme Court hear the case. However, in February 2009, the U.S. EPA withdrew its request and the 
group of utilities’ request was denied. These actions left the original court decision in place, which 
vacated the federal CAMR and remanded the rule to the U.S. EPA with a determination that the rule be 
rewritten under the MACT provision of Section 112(d) of the Clean Air Act. The U.S. EPA has 
subsequently written a replacement rule for the regulation of coal-fired utility emissions of mercury and 
other hazardous air pollutants. This replacement rule was published in the Federal Register on 
February 16, 2012, and it is referred to as the Mercury and Air Toxics Standards (MATS) rule. The rule 
became final on April 16, 2012, and OVEC-IKEC had to demonstrate compliance with MATS emission 
limits on April 16, 2015. In June 2015, the U.S. Supreme Court issued a ruling on outstanding MATS 
litigation that the U.S. EPA had failed to take costs into consideration when they made a determination 
that it was appropriate and necessary to regulate mercury emissions from steam electric utilities; however, 
the rule remains in effect and it was remanded back to the D.C. Circuit Court for further action. That 
Court sent the rule back to the U.S. EPA to remedy the flaws identified in the Supreme Court decision. A 
final determination on whether the U.S. EPA has adequately considered costs as part of the rulemaking 
process is still pending. Regardless of that outcome, MATS is now in effect, and the controls OVEC- 
IKEC has installed have proven to be adequate to meet the emissions requirements outlined in the MATS 
rule.

In July 2008, the D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals issued a decision that vacated the federal CAIR and 
remanded the rule to the U.S. EPA. In September 2008, the U.S. EPA, a group of electric utilities and 
other parties filed petitions for rehearing. In December 2008, the D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals granted 
the U.S. EPA’s petition and remanded the rule to the U.S. EPA without vacatur, allowing the federal 
CAIR to remain in effect while a new rule was developed and promulgated. Following the remand, the 
U.S. EPA promulgated a replacement rule to CAIR. This new rule is called the Cross-State Air Pollution 
Rule (CSAPR) and it was issued on July 6, 2011, and it was scheduled to go into effect on January 1, 
2012. However, on December 30, 2011, the D.C. Circuit Court issued an indefinite stay of the CSAPR 
rule until the Court considered the numerous state, trade association, and industry petitions filed to have 
the rule either stayed or reviewed. The Court also instructed the U.S. EPA to keep CAIR in place while 
they considered the numerous petitions. On August 21, 2012, in a 2-1 decision, the D.C. Circuit Court 
vacated the CSAPR rule and ordered the U.S. EPA to keep CAIR in effect until a CSAPR replacement 
rule is promulgated. The U.S. EPA and other parties filed a petition seeking rehearing before the entire 
D.C. Circuit Court on October 5, 2012. That petition was denied by the D.C. Circuit Court on January 24, 
2013; however, the U.S. Solicitor General petitioned the U.S. Supreme Court to review the D.C. Circuit 
Court’s decision on CSAPR in March 2013, and the Supreme Court granted that petition in June 2013. 
Oral arguments were presented before the Supreme Court in December 2013. On April 29, 2014, the U.S. 
Supreme Court issued a decision reversing the D.C. Circuit Court’s 2013 CSAPR vacatur and remanded 
the CSAPR rule back to that Court for further deliberation. On October 23, 2014, the D.C. Circuit Court 
issued a motion lifting the stay on the CSAPR rules and then U.S. EPA issued a ministerial rule on 
November 21, 2014, that allowed CSAPR to become effective on January 1, 2015. On July 28, 2015, the 
U.S. Supreme Court remanded portions of the CSAPR rule back to the D.C. Circuit Court for additional 
review and subsequent action by the U.S. EPA. The remaining issues included overstated ozone season 
budgets for nine states, including Ohio. As a result, on November 16, 2015, the U.S. EPA proposed a 
CSAPR update rule that incoiporated the 2008 ozone National Ambient Air Quality Standards (NAAQS) 
to update these states’ allocation budgets to address interstate transport, as well as addressing some of the 
other remaining issues from the original CSAPR. This proposed CSAPR Update rule became final on 
September?, 2016, and is scheduled to go into effect beginning with the May 2017 Ozone Season.
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OVEC-IKEC is evaluating the final rule and is preparing our compliance strategy for meeting this rule 
beginning on May 1,2017.

With the Kyger Creek FGD and the Clifty Creek FGD systems now fully operational, and with the 10 
SCR systems operational at both plants, management did not need to purchase additional SO2 allowances 
in 2016 to cover actual emissions; however, there was a need to purchase a limited quantity of NOx Ozone 
Season allowances in 2016. Depending on a variety of operational and economic factors, management 
may also elect to strategically purchase CSAPR Annual and Ozone Season NOx allowances in 2017 and 
beyond.

Now that all FGD systems are fully operational, OVEC-IKEC continues to expect to have adequate SO2 
allowances available without having to rely on market purchases to comply with the CSAPR rules in their 
current form; however, the purchase of additional NOx allowances and the improvement and optimization 
of current NO* control systems are being conducted. In addition, we are evaluating the need for additional 
NOx controls and/or changes in unit dispatch criteria for Clifty Creek Unit 6 as well as other OVEC-IKEC 
units under the current CSAPR regulations as well as any future NOx regulations.

On November 6, 2009, the Companies received a Section 114 Information Request from the U.S. EPA. 
The stated purpose of the information request was for the U.S. EPA to obtain the necessary information to 
determine if the Kyger Creek and Clifty Creek plants have been operating in compliance with the Federal 
Clean Air Act. Attorneys for the Companies subsequently contacted the U.S. EPA and established a 
schedule for submission of the requested information. Based on this schedule, all requested information 
was submitted to the U.S. EPA by March 8, 2010.

In late December 2011, OVEC-IKEC received a letter dated December21, 2011, from the U.S. EPA 
requesting follow-up information. Specifically, the U.S. EPA asked for an update on the status of the FGD 
scrubber projects at both plants as well as additional information on any other new emissions controls that 
either have been installed or are planned for installation since the last submittal we filed on March 8, 
2012. This information was prepared and filed with the U.S. EPA in late January 2012. In the fall of 2012, 
following an on-site visit, the U.S. EPA made an informal request that OVEC-IKEC provide the agency 
with a monthly email progress report on the Clifty Creek FGD project until both FGD systems were 
operational. As of this date, the only communication OVEC-IKEC has had with the U.S. EPA related to 
either the original Section 114 data submittal or the supplemental data filing made in 2011 are the monthly 
email progress reports. Those monthly email progress reports were discontinued once the second of the 
two FGD scrubbers at Clifty Creek was placed into service in May 2013.

CCR Rule

In 2010, the U.S. EPA published a proposed rule to regulate the disposal and beneficial reuse of coal 
combustion residuals (CCRs), including fly ash and boiler slag generated at coal-fired electric generating 
units as well as FGD gypsum generated at some coal-fired plants. The proposed rule contained two 
alternative proposals. One proposal would impose federal hazardous waste disposal and management 
standards on these materials and another would allow states to retain primary authority to regulate the 
beneficial reuse and disposal of these materials under state solid waste management standards, including 
minimum federal standards for disposal and management. Both proposals would impose stringent 
requirements for the construction of new coal ash landfills and existing unlined surface impoundments.
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Various environmental organizations and industry groups filed a petition seeking to establish deadlines for 
a final rule. To comply with a court-ordered deadline, the U.S. EPA issued a prepublication copy of its 
final rule in December 2014. The rule was published in the Federal Register in April 2015 and became 
effective in October 2015.

In the final rule, the U.S. EPA elected to regulate CCR as a non-hazardous solid waste and issued new 
minimum federal solid waste management standards. The rule applies to new and existing active CCR 
landfills and CCR surface impoundments at operating electric utility or independent power production 
facilities. The rule imposes new and additional construction and operating obligations, including location 
restrictions, liner criteria, structural integrity requirements for impoundments, operating criteria, and 
additional groundwater monitoring requirements. The rule is self-implementing and currently does not 
require state action. As a result of this self-implementing feature, the rule contains extensive 
recordkeeping, notice, and Internet posting requirements. OVEC-IKEC has been systematically 
implementing applicable provisions of the CCR rule. OVEC-IKEC has completed all compliance 
obligations associated with the rule to date and has begun evaluating what, if any, impacts groundwater 
quality will have on its CCR units. Preliminary background results indicate that there is a potential for 
groundwater quality issues with the boiler slag ponds at each plant and both landfills. This information is 
still being collected and evaluated, so no final determination has been made to date. Alternative Source 
Demonstrations (ASD) are being completed in parallel to the background data collection. OVEC-IKEC is 
confident in being able to demonstrate that an ASD is the cause of the preliminary groundwater quality 
issues being observed in the Kyger Creek landfill and boiler slag ponds. Additional information will be 
available in early 2018.

In February 2014, the U.S. EPA completed a risk evaluation of the beneficial uses of coal fly ash in 
concrete and FGD gypsum in wallboard and concluded that the U.S. EPA supports these beneficial uses. 
Currently, approximately 5% of the coal ash and other residual products from our generating facilities are 
reused in the production of cement and wallboard, as structural fill or soil amendments, as abrasives or 
road treatment materials, and for other beneficial uses.

NAAQS Compliance for SO;

On June 22, 2010, the U.S. EPA revised the Clean Air Act by developing and publishing a new one-hour 
SO; NAAQS of 75 parts per billion, which replaced the previously existing 24-hour and annual standards, 
and became effective on August 23, 2010. States with areas failing to meet the new standard are required 
to develop SIPs to expeditiously attain and maintain the standard.

On August 15, 2013, the U.S. EPA published its initial non-attainment area designations for the new one- 
hour SO;, which did not include the areas around Kyger Creek or Clifty Creek. However, the amended 
rule does establish that at a minimum sources that emit 2,000 tons SO; or more per year be characterized 
by their respective states using either modeling of actual source emissions or through appropriately sited 
ambient air quality monitors.

In addition, U.S. EPA entered into a settle agreement with Sierra CIub/NRDC in the U.S. District Court 
for the Northern District of California requiring U.S. EPA to take certain actions, including completing 
area designation by July 2, 2016, for areas with either monitored violations based on 2013-15 air quality
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monitoring or sources not announced for retirement that emitted more than 16,000 tons SO2 or more than 
2,600 tons with a 0.45 SOi/mmBtu emission rate in 2012.

Both Kyger Creek and Clifty Creek, either directly or indirectly, triggered one of these criteria and have 
been evaluated by our respective state regulatory agencies through modeling. The modeling results 
showed Clifty Creek could meet the new one-hour SO2 limit using their current scrubber systems without 
any additional investment or modifications. Kyger Creek’s modeling data was rejected by U.S. EPA as 
inconclusive. As a result, Kyger Creek installed a SO2 monitoring network around the plant and will be 
required to monitor ambient air quality for at least the next three years, beginning on January 1, 2017. 
U.S. EPA will then use the results of the monitoring network data to make a determination of our 
compliance status with the SO2 NAAQS by no later than December 31, 2020. Based on initial data from 
that network, OVEC expects to show compliance with the new one-hour standard, and we expect to avoid 
additional scrubber investments or modifications.

Steam Electric ELGs

On September 30, 2015, the U.S. EPA signed a new final rule governing Effluent Limitations Guidelines 
(ELGs) for the wastewater discharges from steam electric power generating plants. The rule, which was 
formally published in the Federal Register on November 3, 2015, will affect future wastewater discharges 
from both the Kyger Creek and Clifty Creek Stations.

The rule will require OVEC-IKEC to modify the way it handles a number of wastewater processes at both 
power plants. Specifically, the new ELG standards will affect the following wastewater processes in three 
ways:

1. Kyger Creek will need to convert to dry fly ash handling by no later than December 31, 2023. The 
Clifty Creek Station already has a dry fly ash handling system in place, so this provision of the rule 
will not impact Clifty Creek’s operations.

2. The new ELGs will prohibit the discharge of bottom ash sluice water from boiler slag/bottom ash 
wastewater treatment systems. For Clifty Creek and Kyger Creek, this will most likely mean 
conversion of each plant’s boiler slag ponds to either a closed-loop sluicing system or a dry 
handling system for boiler slag. OVEC-IKEC conducted a Phase I engineering study in 2016 to 
determine options and costs associated with retrofitting the plants’ boiler slag treatment systems. 
The study results are being refined and we expect to make a final selection of proposed control 
technologies in 2017. Engineering, design, construction, installation, and successful operation of all 
controls will also need to be completed by no later than December 31, 2023.

3. The new ELG rules also establish new internal limitations for the FGD system wastewater 
discharges. Specifically, there will be new internal limits for arsenic, merciuy, selenium, and 
nitrate/nitrite nitrogen from the FGD chlorides purge stream wastewater treatment plant at each 
plant. For both Clifty Creek and Kyger Creek Stations, we are expecting to be able to meet the 
mercury and arsenic limitations with the current wastewater treatment technology; however, we are 
expecting to add some form of biological (or equivalent non-biological) treatment system on the 
back end of each Station’s existing FGD wastewater treatment plant to meet the new nitrate/nitrite 
nitrogen and selenium limitations.
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U.S. EPA is requiring compliance with these new limits “as soon as possible” after November 1,2018, but 
no later than December 31, 2023. The new limits will be implemented through each Station’s wastewater 
discharge permit which is typically renewed on a five-year basis. The final compliance dates will be 
facility-specific and negotiated with our state permit agencies based on the time needed to plan, secure 
funding, design, procure, and install necessary control technologies. OVEC-IKEC has initiated the process 
of investigating various technologies to meet the compliance requirements of the ELG rule, and we have 
preliminary technologies and associate cost estimates developed. The cost estimates and technology 
evaluations will be refined over the coming year.

316(b) Compliance

The 316(b) rule was published as a final rule in the Federal Register on August 15, 2014, and impacts 
facilities that use cooling water intakes structures designed to withdraw at least 2 million gallons per day 
from waters of the U.S. and who also have an NPDES permit. The rule requires such facilities to choose 
one of seven options specified by the mle to reduce impingement to fish and other aquatic organisms. 
Additionally, facilities that withdraw 125 million gallons or more per day must conduct entrainment 
studies to assist state permitting authorities in determining what site-specific controls are required to 
reduce the number of aquatic organisms entrained by each respective cooling water system.

OVEC-IKEC has completed the required two-year fish entrainment studies. Additional analysis is being 
performed in compliance with the rule, and comprehensive reports are being developed for submittal to 
each plant’s respective state agency for review.

Currently, OVEC-IKEC expects to provide the results of the comprehensive 316(b) studies and our 
control technology recommendations to our state regulatory agencies in 2018. The timeline for when we 
will be required to retrofit the cooling water systems at Clifty Creek and Kyger Creek, as well as the type 
of retrofit required, will then be negotiated with each state regulatory agency.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The accounting guidance for Financial Instruments requires disclosure of the fair value of certain financial 
instruments. The estimates of fair value under this guidance require the application of broad assumptions 
and estimates. Accordingly, any actual exchange of such financial instruments could occur at values 
significantly different from the amounts disclosed.

OVEC utilizes its trustee’s external pricing service in its estimate of the fair value of the underlying 
investments held in the benefit plan trusts and investment portfolios. The Companies’ management 
reviews and validates the prices utilized by the trustee to determine fair value. Equities and fixed-income 
securities are classified as Level 1 holdings if they are actively traded on exchanges. In addition, mutual 
funds are classified as Level 1 holdings because they are actively traded at quoted market prices. Certain 
fixed-income securities do not trade on an exchange and do not have an official closing price. Pricing 
vendors calculate bond valuations using financial models and matrices. Fixed-income securities are 
typically classified as Level 2 holdings because their valuation inputs are based on observable market 
data. Observable inputs used for valuing fixed-income securities are benchmark yields, reported trades, 
broker/dealer quotes, issuer spreads, bids, offers, and economic events. Other securities with model 
derived valuation inputs that are obsei-vable are also classified as Level 2 investments. Investments with 
unobservable valuation inputs are classified as Level 3 investments.
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As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Companies held certain assets that are required to be measured at 
fair value on a recurring basis. These consist of investments recorded within long-term investments. The 
investments consist of money market mutual funds, equity mutual funds, and fixed-income municipal 
securities. Changes in the observed trading prices and liquidity of money market funds are monitored as 
additional support for determining fair value, and unrealized gains and losses are recorded in earnings.

The methods described above may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net 
realizable value or reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, while the Companies believe their 
valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different 
methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a 
different fair value measurement at the reporting date.

As cash and cash equivalents, current receivables, current payables, and line of credit borrowings are all 
short-term in nature, their carrying amounts approximate fair value.

Long-Term Investments—^Assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2016 and 
2015, were as follows;

Fair Value Measurements at 
Reporting Date Using

Quoted Prices 
in Active

Significant
Other Significant

Market for Observable Unobservable
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs

2016 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Equity mutual funds $28,106,968 $ $
Fixed income municipal securities - 87,163,674 -
Cash equivalents 3,731,735 - -

Total fair value $31,838,703 $87,163,674 $

2015

Equity mutual funds $23,811,678 $ $
Fixed income municipal securities - 90,587,635 -
Cash equivalents 5,360,793 - -

Total fair value $29,172,471 $90,587,635 S

Long-Term Debt—The fair values of the senior notes and fixed-rate bonds were estimated using 
discounted cash flow analyses based on current incremental borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing 
arrangements. These fair values are not reflected in the balance sheets.
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The fair values and recorded values of the senior notes and fixed- and variable-rate bonds as of 
December 31,2016 and 2015, are as follows:

2016 2015
Fair

Value
Recorded

Value
Fair

Value
Recorded

Value

Total $ 1,548,416,122 $ 1,429,281,688 $ 1,626,945,340 $ 1,474,918,560

11. LEASES

OVEC has various operating leases for the use of other property and equipment.

The amount in property under capital leases is $1,866,796 and $2,084,462 with accumulated depreciation 
of $949,520 and $812,724 as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Future minimum lease payments for capital and operating leases at December 31,2016, are as follows:

Operating

$31,531
19,123

$ 50,654

Years Ending 
December 31

2017
2018
2019
2020 
2021
Thereafter

Total future minimum lease payments 

Less estimated interest element 

Estimated present value of future minimum lease payments $ 786,414

The annual operating lease cost incurred was $41,198 and $834,815 for 2016 and 2015, respectively. 

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Companies are party to or may be affected by various matters under litigation. Management believes 
that the ultimate outcome of these matters will not have a significant adverse effect on either the 
Companies’ future results of operation or financial position.

Capital

$ 353,342 
217,340 
114,294 
78,293 
23,625 

278,722

1,065,616

279,202

* * ^ *



OHIO VALLEY ELECTRIC CORPORATION 
AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANY

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors of 
Ohio Valley Electric Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Ohio Valley Electric Corporation and 
its subsidiary company, Indiana-Kentucky Electric Corporation (the “Companies”), which comprise the 
consolidated balance sheets as of December31, 2016 and 2015, and the related consolidated statements of 
income and retained earnings and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated 
financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. 
Those standards require that we plan and perfoirn the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Companies’ 
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Companies’ internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Companies as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the results of their operations and 
their cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America.

/s/Deloitte & Touche LLP

Cincinnati, Ohio 
April 12, 2017
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OVEC PERFORMANCE—A 5-YEAR COMPARISON

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Net Generation (MWh) 9,946,877 8,899,619 11,410,006 10,471,693 10,514,762

Energy Delivered (MWh) to: 
DOE^'' 173,873 221,610 211,337 195,470 207,692
Sponsors 9,745,956 8,681,829 11,193,643 10,304,107 10,340,568

Maximum Scheduled (MW) by: 
DOE^" 35 40 42 33 36
Sponsors 2,167 2,047 2,162 2,160 2,165

Power Costs to:
DOE"' S8,5I9,000 $10,249,000 $11,758,000 $9,282,000 $9,097,000
Sponsors $571,687,000 $559,123,000 $631,120,000 $671,648,000 $650,027,000

Average Price (MWh):
DOE"' $48,996 $46,248 $55,636 $47,483 $43,802
Sponsors $58,657 $64,402 $56,382 $65,183 $62,862

Operating Revenues $585,896,000 $565,329,000 $656,174,000 $675,649,000 $670,819,000

Operating Expenses $515,702,000 $492,803,000 $587,900,000 $594,742,000 $599,891,000

Cost of Fuel Consumed $261,833,000 $246,582,000 $315,461,000 $311,900,000 $302,926,000

Taxes (federal, state, and local) $12,329,000 $11,646,000 $12,426,000 $12,312,000 $11,659,000

Payroll $60,051,000 $63,909,000 $62,275,000 $63,175,000 $61,907,000

Fuel Burned (tons) 4,603,575 4,134,871 5,183,311 4,958,872 5,290,009

Heat Rate (Btu per kWh, 
net generation) 10,904 10,681 10,483 10,715 10,581

Unit Cost of Fuel Burned 
(per mniBtu) $2.41 $2.59 $2.64 $2.78 $2.72

Equivalent Availability (percent) 72.9 64.7 69.8 73.9 78.9

Power Use Factor (percent) 72.67 73.07 86.48 75.05 69.40

Employees (year-end) 708 738 775 781 828

OVEC purchases power from third party generators and provides certain services for the Department of Energy (DOE) at its 
Portsmouth facility under the terms and conditions of an Arranged Power Agreement (APA) dated May 1, 2003. On April 28,2015, 
DOE and OVEC signed an agreement to terminate the APA effective July 31, 2015. The DOE and OVEC extended the date for 
termination of the agreement to October 31,2017.
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See Attachment OCC-POD-Ol-OOl.

PERSON RESPONSIBLE: Legal
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Execution

AMENDED AND RESTATED 

INTER-COMPANY POWER AGREEMENT 

DATED AS OF SEPTEMBER 10,2010 

AMONG

OHIO VALLEY ELECTRIC CORPORATION. 
ALLEGHENY ENERGY SUPPLY COMPANY, L.L.C. 
APPALACHIAN POWER COMPANY,
BUCKEYE POWER GENERATING, LLC,
COLUMBUS SOUTHERN POWER COMPANY,
THE DAYTON POWER AND LIGHT COMPANY,
DUKE ENERGY OHIO. INC.,
FIRSTENERGY GENERATION CORP.,
INDIANA MICHIGAN POWER COMPANY.
KENTUCKY UTILITIES COMPANY.
LOUISVILLE GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY, 
MONONGAHELA POWER COMPANY,
OHIO POWER COMPANY,
PENINSULA GENERATION COOPERATIVE, and 
SOUTHERN INDIANA GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY
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AMENDED AND RESTATED 

INTER-COMPANY POWER AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT, dated as of September 10,2010 (the “Agreement”), by and 
among Ohio Valley Electric Corporation (herein called OVEC), Allegheny Energy 
Supply Company, L.L.C. (herein called Allegheny), Appalachian Power Company (herein 
called Appalachian), Buckeye Power Generating, LLC (herein called Buckeye), Columbus 
SOUTHERN Power Company (herein called Columbus), THE Dayton Power and Light 
Company (herein called Dayton), DUKE ENERGY Ohio, Inc. (formerly known as The Cincinnati 
Gas & Electric Company and herein called Duke Ohio), FirstEnergy Generation Corp. 
(herein called FirstEnergy), Indiana Michigan Power Company (herein called Indiana), 
Kentucky Utilities Company (herein called Kentucky), Louisville Gas and Electric 
Company (herein called Louisville), Monongahela Power Company (herein called 
Monongahela), Ohio Power Company (herein called Ohio Power), Peninsula Generation 
Cooperative (herein called Peninsula), and Southern Indiana Gas and Electric Company 
(herein called Southern Indiana, and all of the foregoing, other than OVEC, being herein 
sometimes collectively referred to as the Sponsoring Companies and individually as a 
Sponsoring Company) hereby amends and restates in its entirety, the Inter-Company Power 
Agreement dated as of March 13,2006, as amended by Modification No. 1, dated as of March 
13,2006 (herein called the Current Agreement), by and among OVEC and the Sponsoring 
Companies.

WITNESSETH THAT:

Whereas, the Current Agreement amended and restated the original Inter­
company Power Agreement, dated as of July 10,1953, as amended by Modification No. 1, dated 
as of June 3,1966; Moditication No. 2, dated as of January 7,1967; Modification No. 3, dated as 
of November 15,1967; Modification No. 4, dated as of November 5, 1975; Modification No. 5, 
dated as of September 1,1979; Modification No. 6, dated as of August 1,1981; Modification 
No. 7, dated as of January 15, 1992; Modification No. 8, dated as of January 19,1994; 
Modification No. 9, dated as of August 17,1995; Modification No. 10, dated as of January 1, 
1998; Modification No. 11, dated as of April 1,1999; Modification No. 12, dated as of 
November 1,1999; Modification No. 13, dated as of May 24,2000; Modification No. 14, dated 
as of April 1,2001; and Modification No. 15, dated as of April 30,2004 (together, herein called 
the Original Agreement); and

W HERBAS, OVEC designed, purchased, and constructed, and continues to operate 
and maintain two steam-electric generating stations, one station (herein called Ohio Station) 
consisting of five turbo-generators and all other necessary equipment, at a location on the Ohio 
River near Cheshire, Ohio, and the other station (herein call^ Indiana Station) consisting of six 
turbogenerators and all other necessary equipment, at a location on the Ohio River near Madison,

030860-001i.02023>AeUvB.12026n6.5
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Indiana, (the Ohio Station and the Indiana Station being herein called the Project Generating 
Stations); and

Whereas, OVEC also designed, purchased, and constructed, and continues to 
operate and maintain necessary transmission and general plant facilities (herein called the Project 
Transmission Facilities) and OVEC established or cause to be established interconnections 
between the Project Generating Stations and the systems of certain of the Sponsoring 
Companies; and

Whereas, OVEC entered into an agreement, attached hereto as Exhibit A, with 
Indiana-Kentucky Electric Corporation (herein called IKEC), a corporation organized under the 
laws of the State of Indiana as a w4iolly owned subsidiary corporation of OVEC, which has been 
amended and restated as of the date of this Agreement and embodies the terms and conditions for 
the ownership and operation by IKEC of the Indiana Station and such portion of the Project 
Transmission Facilities which are to be owned and operated by it; and

Whereas, transmission facilities were constructed by certain of the Sponsoring 
Companies to intercozmect the systems of such Sponsoring Companies, directly or iiKlirectly, 
with the Project Generating Stations and/or the Project Transmission Facilities, and the 
Sponsoring Companies have agreed to pay for Available Power, as hereinafter defined, as may 
be available at the Project Generating Stations; and

Whereas, the parties hereto desire to amend and restate in their entirety, the 
Current Agreement to define the terms and conditions governing the rights of the Sponsoring 
Companies to receive Available Power from the Project Generating Stations and the obligations 
of the Sponsoring Companies to pay therefor.

Now, Therefore, the parties hereto agree with each other as follows:

ARTICLE 1 

Definitions

1.01. For the purposes of this Agreement, the following terms, ^^erever used 
herein, shall have the following meanings:

1.011 ‘^Affiliate** means, with respect to a specified person, any other 
person that directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries controls, is 
controlled by, or is under common control with, such specified person; provided that 
‘'control” for these purposes means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to 
direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a person, whether through 
the owitership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.

03C06(M)01142023*Active. 12024 U 65
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1.012 “Arbitration Board” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.10.

1.013 “Available Energy” of the Project Generating Stations means the 
energy associated with Available Power.

1.014 “Available Power*' of the Project Generating Stations at any 
particular time means the total net kilowatts at the 345>kV busses of the Project 
Generating Stations which Corporation in its sole discretion will determine that the 
Project Generating Stations will be capable of safely delivering under conditions then 
prevailing, including all conditions affecting capability.

1.015 “Corporation” means OVEC, IKEC, and all other subsidiary 
corporations of OVEC.

1.016 “Decommissioning and Demolition Obligation” has the meaning 
set forth in Section 5.03(f) hereof.

1.017 “Effective Date” means September 10,2010, or to the extent 
necessary, such later date on which Corporation notifies the Sponsoring Companies that 
all conditions to effectiveness, including all required waiting periods and all required 
regulatory acceptances or approvals, of this Agreement have been satisfied in form and 
substance satisfactory to the Corporafion.

hereof.
1.018 “Election Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.183(a)

1.019 “Minimum Generating Unit Output” means 80 MW (net) for each 
of the Corporation’s generation units; provided that such “Minimum Generating Unit 
Output” shall be confirmed fiom time to time by operating tests on the Corporation’s 
generation units and shall be adjusted by the Operating Committee as appropriate 
following such tests.

1.0110 “Minimum Loading Event” means a period of time during which 
one or more of the Corporation’s generation units are operating at below the Minimum 
Generating Output as a result of the Sponsoring Companies’ failure to schedule and take 
delivery of sufficient Available Energy.

1.0111 “Minimum Loading Event Costs” means the sum of the following 
costs caused by one or more Minimum Loading Events: (i) the actual costs of any of the 
Corporation’s generating units burning fuel oil; and (ii) the estimated actual additional 
costs to the Corporation resulting from Minimum Loading Events, including without 
limitation the incremental costs of additional emissions allowances, reflected in the 
schedule of charges prepared by the Operating Committee and in effect as of the 
commencement of any Minimum Loading Event, which schedule may be adjusted from 
time to time as necessary by the Operating Committee.

Q30B6(>4K>li42023-Activ6.I2026l 16.5
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1.0112 “Month” means a calendar month.

1.0113 "Nominal Power Available” means an individual Sponsoring 
Company’s Power Participation Ratio share of the Corporation’s current estimate of the 
maximum amount of Available Power available for delivery at any given time.

1.0114 "Offer Notice” means the notice required to be given to the other 
Sponsoring Companies by a Transferring Sponsor offering to sell all or a portion of such 
Transferring Sponsor’s rights, title and interests in, and obligations under this Agreement 
At a minimum, the Offer Notice shall be in writing and shall contain (i) the rights, title 
and interests in, and obligations under this Agreement that the Transferring Sponsor 
proposes to Transfer; and (ii) the cash purchase price and any other material terms and 
conditions of such proposed transfer. An Offer Notice may not contain terms or 
conditions requiring the purchase of any non-OVEC interests.

1.0115 "Permitted Assignee” means a person that is (a) a Sponsoring 
Company or its Affiliate whose long-term unsecured non-credit enhanced indebtedness, 
as of the date of such assignment, has a Standard & Poor’s credit rating of at least BBB- 
and a Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. credit rating of at least Baa3 (provided that, if the 
proposed assignee’s long-term unsecured non-credit enhanced indebtedness is not 
currently rated by one of Standard & Poor’s or Moody, such assignee’s long-term 
unsecured non-credit enhanced indebtedness, as of the date of such assignment, must 
have either a Standard & Poor’s credit rating of at least BBB- or a Moody’s Investors 
Service, Inc. credit rating of at least Baa3); or (b) a Sponsoring Company or its Affiliate 
that docs not meet the criteria in subsection (a) above, if the Sponsoring Company or its 
Affiliate that is assigning its rights, title and interests in, and obligations under, this 
Agreement agrees in writing (in form and substance satisfactory to Corporation) to 
remain obligated to satisfy all of the obligations related to the assigned rights, title and 
interests to the extent such obligations are not satisfied by the assignee of such rights, title 
and interests; provided that in no event shall a person be deemed a “Permitted Assignee” 
if counsel for the Corporation reasonably determines that the assignment of the rights, 
title or interests in, or obligations under, this Agreement to such person could cause a 
termination, de&ult, loss or payment obligation under any security issued, or agreement 
entered into, by the Corporation prior to such transfer.

1.0116 “Postretiiement Benefit Obligation” has the meaning set forth in 
Section 5.03(e) hereof.

1.0117 “Power Participation Ratio” as applied to each of the Sponsoring 
Companies refers to the percentage set forth opposite its respective name in the tabulation 
below:

Company
Power Participation 

Ratio—^Percent

030UIMOIS42023-ActivB.I2026)I6.3



Allegheny.........
Appalachian.......
Buckeye............
Columbus..........
Dayton....... .......
Dijce Ohio.........
FirstEnergy....... .
Indiana..............
Kentucky...........
Louisville..........
Monongahela......
Ohio Power.......
Peninsula...........
Southern Indiana.

Total......... .
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3.01
15.69
18.00
4.44
4.90
9.00
4.85
7.85
2.50 
5.63 
0.49

15.49
6.65
1.50

100.0

1.0118 ‘Tariff’ means the open access transmission tariff of the 
Corporation, as amended from time to time, or any successor tariff, as accepted by the 
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission or any successor agency.

l.Ol 19 “Third Party” means any person other than a Sponsoring Company
or its Affiliate.

1.0120 “Total Minimum Generating Output” means the product of the 
Minimum Generating Unit OuQ}ut times the number of the Corporation’s generation units 
available for service at that time.

1.0121 “Transferring Sponsor” has the meaning set forth in Section 
9.183(a) hereof.

1.0122 “Uniform System of Accounts” means the Uniform System of 
Accounts prescribed by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission as in effect on 
January 1,2004.

ARTICLE 2

Transmission Agreement and Facilities

2.01.. Transmission Agreement. The Corporation shall enter into a transmission 
service agreement under the Tariff, and the Corporation shall reserve and schedule transmission 
service, ancillary services aiKl other transmission-related services in accordance with the Tariff 
to provide for the delivery of Available Power and Available Energy to the applicable deliveiy 
point under this Agreement.
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2.02. Limited Burdening of Corporation's Transmission Facilities.
Transmission facilities owned by the Corporation, including the Project Transmission Facilities, 
shall not be burdened by power and energy flows of any Sponsoring Company to an extent 
which would impair or prevent the transmission of Available Power.

ARTICLES

[Reserved]

ARTICLE 4

Available Power Supply

4.01. Operation of Project Generating Stations. Corporation shall operate and 
maintain the Project Generating Stations in a manner consistent with safe, prudent, and efficient 
operating practice so that the Available Power available from said stations shall be at the highest 
practicable level attainable consistent with OVEC*s obligations under ReliabilityF/rs/ Reliability 
Standard BAL-002-RFC throughout the term of this Agreement.

4.02. Available Power Entitlement. The Sponsoring Companies collectively 
shall be entitled to take from Corporation and Corporation shall be obligated to supply to the 
Sponsoring Companies any and all Available Power and Available Energy pursuant to the 
provisions of this Agreement Each Sponsoring Company’s Available Power Entitlement 
hereunder shall be its Power Participation Ratio, as defined in subsection 1.0117, of Available 
Power.

4.03. Available Energy. Corporation shall make Available Energy available to 
each Sponsoring Company in proportion to said Sponsoring Company’s Power Participation 
Ratio. No Sponsoring Company, however, shall be obligated to avail itself of any Available 
Energy. Available Energy shall be scheduled and taken by the Sponsoring Companies in 
accordance with the following procedures:

4.031 Each Sponsoring Company shall schedule the delivery of all or any 
portion (in whole MW increments) of its entitlement to Available Energy in accordance 
with scheduling procedures established by the Operating Committee from time to time.

4.032 In the event that any Sponsoring Company does not schedule the 
delivery of all of its Power Participation l^tio share of Available Energy, then each such 
other Sponsoring Company may schedule the delivery of all or any portion (in whole 
MW increments) of any such unscheduled share of Available Energy (through successive 
allotments if necessary) in proportion to their Power Participation Ratios.
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4.033 Notwithstanding any Available Energy schedules made in 
accordance with this Section 4.03 and the applicable scheduling procedures, (i) the 
Corporation shall adjust all schedules to the extent that the Corporation’s actual 
generation output is less than or more than the expected Nominal Power Available to all 
Sponsoring Companies, or to the extent that the Corporation is unable to obtain sufficient 
transmission service under the Tariff for the delivery of all scheduled Available Energy; 
and (ii) immediately following a Minimum Loading Event, any Sponsoring Company 
causing (in whole or part) such Minimum Loading Event shall have its Available Energy 
schedules increased after the schedules of the Sponsoring Companies not causing such 
Minimum Load Event, in accordance with the estimated ramp rates associated with the 
shutdown and start>up of the Corporation’s generation units as reflected in the schedules 
prepared by the Operating Committee and in effect as of the commencement of any 
Minimum Loading Event, which schedules may be adjusted from time to time as 
necessary by the Operating Committee.

4.034 Each Sponsoring Company availing itself of Available Energy 
shall be entitled to an amount of energy (herein called billing kilowatt-hours of Available 
Energy) equal to its portion, determined as provided in this Section 4.03, of the total 
Available Energy after deducting therefrom such Sponsoring Company’s proportionate 
share, as defined in this Section 4.03, of all losses as determined in accordance with the 
Tariff incurred in transmitting the total of such Available Energy from the 34S-kV busses 
of the Project Generating Stations to the applicable delivery points, as scheduled pursuant 
to Section 9.01, of all Sponsoring Companies availing themselves of Available Energy. 
The proportionate share of all such losses that shall be so deducted from such Sponsoring 
Company’s portion of Available Energy shall be equal to all such losses multiplied by the 
ratio of such portion of Available Energy to the total of such Available Energy. Each 
Sponsoring Company shall have the right, pursuant to this Section 4.03, to avail itself of 
Available Energy for the purpose of meeting the loads of its own system and/or of 
supplying energy to other systems in accordance with agreements, other than this 
Agreement, to which such Sponsoring Company is a party.

4.035 To the extent that, as a result of the failure by one or more 
Sponsoring Companies to take its respective Power Participation Ratio share of the 
applicable Total Minimum Generating Ou^ut during any hour, a Minimum Loading 
Event shall occur, then such one or more Sponsoring Companies shall be assessed 
charges for any Minimum Loading Event Costs in accordance with Section 5.05.

ARTICLES

Charges for Available Power and Minimum Loading Event Costs

5.01. Total Monthly Charge. The amount to be paid to Corporation each month 
by the Sponsoring Companies for Available Power and Available Energy supplied under this
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Agreement shall consist of the sum of an energy charge, a demand charge, and a transmission 
charge, all detennined as set forth in thiSi4r/7c/e 5.

102. Energy Charge. The energy charge to be paid each month by the 
Sponsoring Companies for Available Energy shall be determined by Corporation as follows:

5.021 Determine the aggregate of all expenses for fuel incurred in the 
operation of the Project Generating Stations, in accordance with Account 501 (Fuel), 
Account 506.5 (Variable Reagent Costs Associated With Pollution Control Facilities) and 
509 (Allowances) of the Uniform System of Accounts.

5.022 Determine for such month the difference between the total cost of 
fuel as described in subsection 5.021 above and the total cost of fuel included in any 
Minimum Loading Event Costs payable to the Corporation for such month pursuant to 
Section 8.03. For the purposes hereof the difference so determined shall be the fuel cost 
allocable for such month to the total kilowatt-hours of energy generated at the Project 
Generating Stations for the supply of Available Energy. For Available Energy availed of 
by the Sponsoring Companies, each Sponsoring Company shall pay Corporation for each 
such month an amount obtained by multiplying the ratio of the billing kilowatt-hours of 
such Available Energy availed of by such Sponsoring Company during such month to the 
aggregate of the billing kilowatt-hours of all Available Energy availed of by all 
Sponsoring Companies during such month times the total cost of fuel as described in this 
subsection 5.022 for such month.

5.03. Demand Charge. During the period commencing with the Effective Date 
and for the remainder of the term of this Agreement, demand charges payable by the Sponsoring 
Companies to Corporation shall be detennined by the Corporation as provided below in this 
Section 5.03. Each Sponsoring CoD^>any's share of the aggregate demand charges shall be the 
percentage of such charges represent^ by its Power Participation Ratio.

The aggregate demand charge payable each month by the Sponsoring Companies 
to Corporation shall be equal to the total costs incurred for such month by Corporation resulting 
from its ownership, operation, and maintenance of the Project Generating Stations and Project 
Transmission Facilities detennined as follows:

As soon as practicable after the close of each calendar month the following 
components of costs of Corporation (eliminating any duplication of costs which 
might otherwise be reflected among the corporate entities comprising 
Corporation) applicable for such month to the ownership, operation and 
maintenance of the Project Generating Stations and the Project Transmission 
Facilities, including additional fticilities and/or spare parts (such as fuel 
processing plants, flue gas or waste product processing facilities, and &cilities 
reasonably required to enable the Corporation to limit the emission of pollutants 
or the discharge of wastes in compliance with governmental requirements) and
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replacements necessary or desirable to keep the Project Generating Stations and 
the Project Transmission Facilities in a dependable and efficient operating 
condition, and any provision for any taxes that may be applicable to such charges, 
to be determined and recorded in the following manner:

(a) Component (A) shall consist of fixed charges made up of 
(i) the amounts of interest properly chargeable to Accounts 427,430 and 
431, less the amount thereof credited to Account 432, of the Uniform 
System of Accounts, including the interest component of any purchase 
price, interest, rental or other payment under an installment sale, loan, 
lease or similar agreement relating to the purchase, lease or acquisition by 
Corporation of additional facilities and replacements (whether or not such 
interest or other amounts have come due or are actually payable during 
such Month), (ii) the amounts of amortization of debt discount or premium 
and expenses properly chargeable to Accounts 428 and 429, and (iii) an 
amount equal to the sum of (I) the applicable amount of the debt 
amortization component for such month required to retire the total amount 
of indebtedness of Corporation issued and outstanding, (II) the 
amortization requirement for such month in respect of indebtedness of 
Corporation incurred in respect of additional facilities and replacements, 
and (in) to the extent not provided for pursuant to clause (II) of this 
clause (iii), an appropriate allowance for depreciation of additional 
facilities and replacements.

(b) Component (B) shall consist of the total operating expenses 
for labor, maintenance, materials, supplies, services, insurance, 
administrative and general expense, etc., properly chargeable to the 
Operation and Maintenance Expense Accounts of the Uniform System of 
Accoimts (exclusive of Accounts 501,509,555,911,912,913,916, and
917 of the Uniform System of Accounts), minus the total of all non-fuel 
costs included in any Minimum Loading Event Costs payable to the 
Corporation for such month pursuant to Section 8.03, minus the total of all 
transmission charges payable to the Corporation for such month pursuant 
to Section 5.04, and plus any additional amounts which, after provision for 
all income taxes on such amounts (which shall be included in Component 
(C) below), shall equal any amounts paid or payable by Coiporation as 
fines or penalties with respect to occasions where it is asserted that 
Corporation failed to comply with a law or regulation relating to the 
emission of pollutants or the discharge of wastes.

(c) ComponeDt (C) shall consist of the total expenses for taxes, 
including all taxes on income but excluding any federal income taxes 
arising from payments to Corporation under Component (D) below, and 
all operating or other costs or expenses, net of income, not included or
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specifically excluded in Components (A) or (B) above, including tax 
adjustments, regulatory adjustments, net losses for the disposition of 
property and other net costs or expenses associated with the operation of a 
utility.

(d) Component (D) shall consist of an amount equal to the 
product of $2,089 multiplied by the total number of shares of capital stock 
of the par value of $100 per share of Ohio Valley Electric Corporation 
which shall have been issued and which are outstanding on the last day of 
such month.

(e) Component (E) shall consist of an amount to be sufficient 
to pay the costs and other expenses relating to the establishment, 
maintenance and administration of life insurance, medical insurance and 
other postretirement benefits other than pensions attributable to the 
employment and employee service of active employees, retirees, or other 
employees, including without limitation any premiums due or expected to 
become due, as well as administrative fees and costs, such amounts being 
sufficient to provide payment with respect to all periods for which 
Corporation has committed or is otherwise obligated to make such 
payments, including amounts attributable to current employee service and 
any unamortized prior service cost, gain or loss attributable to prior 
service years (“Postretirement Benefit Obligation”); provided that, the 
amount payable for Postretirement Benefit Obligations during any month 
shall be determined by the Corporation based on, among other factors, the 
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 106 (Employers' 
Accounting For Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions) and any 
applicable accountii^ standards, policies or practices as adopted from time 
to time relating to accruals with respect to all or any portion of such 
Postretirement Benefit Obligation.

(f) Component (F) shall consist of an amount that may be 
incurred in connection with the decommissioning, shutdown, demolition 
and closing of the Project Generating Stations when production of electric 
power and energy is discontinued at such Project Generating Stations, 
which amount shall include, without limitation the following costs (net of 
any salvage credits): the costs of demolishing the plants' building 
structures, disposal of non-salvageable materials, removal and disposal of 
insulating materials, removal and disposal of storage tanks and associated 
piping, disposal or removal of materials and supplies (including fuel oil 
and coal), grading, covering and reclaiming storage and disposal areas, 
disposing of ash in ash ponds to the extent required by regulatory 
authorities, undertaking corrective or remedial action required by 
regulatory authorities, and any other costs incurred in putting the facilities
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in a condition necessary to protect health or the environment or which are 
required by regulatory authorities, or which are incuired to 
continuing obligations to monitor or to correct environmental problems 
which result, or are later discovered to result, &om the facilities’ 
operation, closure or post-closure activities ("^Decommissioning and 
Demolition Obligation”) provided that the amount payable for 
Decommissioning and Demolition Obligations during any month shall be 
calculated by Corporation based on, among other factors, the then- 
estimated useful life of the Project Generating Stations and any applicable 
accounting standards, policies or practices as adopted from time to time 
relating to accruals with respect to all or any portion of such 
Decommissioning and Demolition Obligation, and provided further that. 
the Corporation shall recalculate the amount payable under this 
Component (F) for future months from time to time, but in no event later 
than five (5) years after the most recent calculation.

5.04. Transmission Charge. The transmission charges to be paid each month by 
the Sponsoring Companies shall be equal to the total costs incurred for such month by 
Corporation for the purchase of transmission service, ancillary services and other transmission- 
related services under the Tariff as reserved and scheduled by the Corporation to provide for the 
delivery of Available Power and Available Energy to the applicable delivery point under this 
Agreement Each Sponsoring Company's share of the aggregate transmission charges shall be 
the percentage of such charges represented by its Power Participation Ratio.

5.05. Minimum Loading Event Costs. To the extent that, as a result of the 
failure by one or more Sponsoring Companies to take its respective Power Participation Ratio 
share of the applicable Total Minimum Generating Output during any hour, a Minimum Loading 
Event shall occur, then the sum of all Minimum Loading Event Costs relating to such Minimum 
Loading Event shall be charged to such Sponsoring Company or groiq> of Sponsoring 
Companies that failed take its respective Power Participation Ratio share of the applicable Total 
Minimum Generating Output during such period, with such Minimum Loading Event Costs 
allocated among such Sponsoring Companies on a pio-rata basis in accordance with such 
Sponsoring Company’s MWh share of the MWh reduction in the delivery of Available Energy 
causing any Minimum Loading Event The applicable charges for Minimum Loading Event 
Costs as determined by the corporation in accordance with Section 5.05 shall be paid each month 
by the applicable Sponsoring Companies.

ARTICLE 6

Metering of Energy Supplied

6.01. Measuring Instruments. The parties hereto shall own and maintain such 
metering equipment as may be necessary to provide complete information regarding the delivery 
of power and energy to or for the account of any of the parties hereto; and the ownership and
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expense of such metering shall be in accordance with agreements among them. Each party will 
at its own expense make such periodic tests and inspections of its meters as may be necessary to 
maintain them at the highest practical commercial standard of accuracy and will advise all ofter 
interested parties hereto promptly of the results of any such test showing an inaccuracy of more 
than 1%. Each party will make additional tests of its meters at the request of any other interested 
party. Other interested parties shall be given notice of, and may have representatives present at, 
any test and inspection made by another party.

ARTICLE?

Costs of Replacements and additional Facilities;
Payments for Employee Benefits;

Decommissioning, Shutdown, Demolition and Closing Charges

7.01. Replacement Costs. The Sponsoring Companies shall reimburse 
Corporation for the difference between (a) the total cost of replacements chargeable to property 
and plant made by Corporation during any month prior thereto (and not previously reimbursed) 
and (b) the amounts received by Corporation as proceeds of fire or other applicable insurance 
protection, or amounts recovered fiom third parties responsible for damages requiring 
replacement, plus provision for all taxes on income on such difference; provided that, to the 
extent that the Corporation arranges for the financing of any replacements, the payments due 
under this Section 7.01 shall equal the amount of all principal, interest, taxes and other costs and 
expenses related to such financing during any month. Each Sponsoring Company*s share of 
such payment shall be the percentage of such costs represented by its Power Participation Ratio. 
The term cost of replacements, as used herein, shall include all components of cost, plus removal 
expense, less salvage.

7.02. Additional Facility Costs. The Sponsoring Companies shall reimburse 
Corporation for the total cost of additional facilities and/or spare parts purchased and/or installed 
by Corporation during any month prior thereto (and not previously reimbursed), plus provision 
for all taxes on income on such costs; provided that, to the extent that the Corporation arranges 
for the financing of any additional &cilities and/or spare parts, the payments due under this 
Section 7.02 shall equal the amoimt of all principal, interest, taxes and other costs and expenses 
related to such financing during any month. Each Sponsoring Company*s share of such payment 
shall be the percentage of such costs represented by its Power Participation Ratio.

7.03. Payments for Employee Benefits. Not later than the effective date of 
termination of this Agreement, each Sponsoring Company will pay to Corporation its Power 
Participation Ratio share of additional amounts, after provision for any taxes that may be 
applicable thereto, sufficient to cover any shortfall if ^e amount of the Postretirement Benefit 
Obligation collected by the Corporation prior to the effective date of termination of the 
Agreement is insufficient to permit Corporation to fulfill its commitments or obligations with 
respect to both postemployment benefit obligations under the Statement of Financial Accounting 
StaiKlards No. 112 and postretirement benefits other than pensions, as deteimined by Corporation
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with the aid of an actuary or actuaries selected by the Corporation based on the terms of the 
Corporation’s then-applicable plans.

7.04. Decommissioning. Shutdown, Demolition and Closing. The Sponsoring 
Companies recognize that a part of the cost of supplying power to it under this Agreement is the 
amount that may be incurred in connection with the decommissioning, shutdown, demolition and 
closing of the Project Generating Stations when production of electric power and energy is 
discontinued at such Project Generating Stations. Not later than the effective date of termination 
of this Agreement, each Sponsoring Company will pay to Corporation its Power Participation 
Ratio share of additional amounts, after provision for any taxes that may be applicable thereto, 
sufficient to cover any shortfall if the amount of the Decommissioning and Demolition 
Obligation collected by the Corporation prior to the effective date of termination of the 
Agreement is insufficient to permit Corporation to complete the decommissioning, shutdown, 
demolition and closing of the Project Generating Stations, based on the Corporation’s 
recalculation of the Decommissioning and Demolition Obligation in accordance with Section 
5.03(f) of this Agreement no earlier than twelve (12) months before the effective date of 
termination of this Agreement

ARTICLES 

Billing and Payment

8.01. Available Power, and Replacement and Additional Facility Costs. As 
soon as practicable after the end of each month Corporation shall render to each Sponsoring 
Company a statement of all Available Power and Available Energy supplied to or for the account 
of such Sponsoring Company during such month, specifying the amount due to the Corporation 
therefor, including any amounts for reimbursement for the cost of replacements and additional 
facilities and/or spare parts incurred during such month, pursuant to Articles S and 7 above.
Such Sponsoring Company shall make payment therefor promptly upon the receipt of such 
statement, but in no event later than fifteen (15) days after the date of receipt of such statement 
In case any factor entering into the computation of the amount due for Available Power and 
Available Energy cannot be determined at the time, it shall be estimated subject to adjustment 
when the actual determination can be made.

8.02. Provisional Payments for Available Power. The Sponsoring Companies 
shall, from time to time, at the request of the Corporation, make provisional semi-monthly 
payments for Available Power in amounts approximately equal to the estimated amounts payable 
for Available Power delivered by Corporation to the Sponsoring Companies during each semi­
monthly period. As soon as practicable after the end of each semi-monthly period with respect 
to vfhich Corporation has requested the Sponsoring Companies to make provisional semi­
monthly payments for Available Power, Corporation shall render to each Sponsoring Company a 
separate statement indicating the amount payable by such Sponsoring Company for such semi­
monthly period. Such Sponsoring Company shall make payment therefor promptly upon receipt 
of such statement, but in no event later than fifteen (1S) days after the date of receipt of such
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statemeDt and the amounts so paid by such Sponsoring Company shall be credited to the account 
of such Sponsoring Company with respect to future payments to be made pursuant to Articles 5 
and 7 above by such Sponsoring Company to Corporation for Available Power.

8.03. Minimum Loading Event Costs. As soon as practicable after the end of 
each month. Corporation shall render to each Sponsoring Company a statement indicating any 
applicable charges for Minimum Loading Event Costs pursuant to Section 5.05 during such 
month, specifying the amount due to the Corporation therefor pursuant to Article 5 above. Such 
Sponsoring Company shall make payment therefor promptly upon the receipt of such statement, 
but in DO event later than fifteen (15) days after the date of receipt of such statement In case the 
computation of the amount due for Minimum Loading Event Costs cannot be determined at the 
time, it shall be estimated subject to adjustment when the actual determination can be made, and 
all payments shall be subject to subsequent adjustment

8.04. Unconditional Obligation to Pay Demand and Other Charges. The 
obligation of each Sponsoring Company to pay its specified portion of the Demaiid Charge under 
Section 5.03, the Transmission Charge under Section 5.04, and all charges mdst Article 7 for 
any Month shall not be reduced irrespective of:

(a) whether or not any Available Power or Available Energy 
are siq^plied by the Corporation during such calendar month and whether 
or not any Available Power or Available Energy are accepted by any 
Sponsoring Company during such calendar month;

(b) the existence of any claim, set-off, defense, reduction, 
abatement or other right (other thw irrevocable payment, performance, 
satisfaction or discharge in full) that such Sponsoring Company may have, 
or which may at any time be available to or be asserted by such 
Sponsoring Company, against the Corporation, any other Sponsoring 
Company, any creditor of the Corporation or any other Person (including, 
without limitation, arising as a result of any breach or alleged breach by 
either the Corporation, any other Sponsoring Company, any creditor of the 
Corporation or any other Person under this Agreement or any other 
agreement (whether or not related to the transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement or any other agreement) to which such party is a party); or

(c) the validity or enforceability against any other Sponsoring 
Company of this Agreement or any right or obligation hereunder (or any 
release or discharge thereof) at any time.
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ARTICLE 9 

General Provisions

9.01. Characteristics of Supply and Points of Delivery. All power and energy 
delivered hereunder shall be 3-phase, 60-cycle, alternating current, at a nominal unregulated 
voltage designated for the point of delivery as described in this Article 9. Available Power and 
Available Energy to be delivered between Corporation and the Sponsoring Companies pursuant 
to this Agreement shall be delivered under the terms and conditions of the Tariff at the points, as 
scheduled by the Sponsoring Company in accordance with procedures established by the 
Operating Committee and in accordance with Section 9.02, where the transmission facilities of 
Corporation interconnect with the transmission facilities of any Sponsoring Company (or its 
successor or predecessor); provided that, to the extent that a joint and common market is 
established for the sale of power and energy by Sponsoring Companies within one or more of the 
regional transmission organizations or independent system operators approved by the Federal 
Energy Regulatory Commission in which the Sponsoring Companies are memb^ or otherwise 
participate, then Corporation and the Sponsoring Companies shall take such action as reasonably 
necessary to permit the Sponsoring Companies to bid their entitlement to power and energy &om 
Corporation into such m^et(s) in accordance with the procedures established for such 
markel(s).

9.02. Modification of Delivery Schedules Based on Available Transmission 
Capability. To the extent that transmission capability available for the delivery of Available 
Power and Available Energy at any delivery point is less than the total amount of Available 
Power and Available Energy scheduled for delivery by the Sponsoring Companies at such 
delivery point in accordance with Section 9.01, then the following procedures shall apply and the 
Corporation and the applicable Sponsoring Companies shall modify ±eir delivery schedules 
accordingly until the total amount of Available Power and Available Energy scheduled for 
delivery at such delivery point is equal to or less than the transmission capability available for 
the delivery of Available Power and Available Energy: (a) the transmission c^bility available 
for the delivery of Available Power and Available ^ergy at the following delivery points shall 
be allocated first on a pro rata basis (in whole MW increments) to the following Sponsoring 
Companies up to their Power Participation Ratio share of the total amount of Available Energy 
available to all Sponsoring Companies (and as ^plicable, further allocated among Sponsoring 
Companies entitled to allocation under this Section 9.02(a) in accordance with their Power 
Participation Ratios): (i) to Allegheny, Appalachian, Buckeye, Columbus, FirstEnergy, Indiana, 
Monongahela, Ohio Power and Peninsula (or their successors) for deliveries at the points of 
interconnection between the Corporation and Appalachian, Columbus, Indiana or Ohio Power, or 
their successors; (ii) to Duke Ohio (or its successor) for deliveries at the points of 
interconnection between the Corporation and Duke Ohio or its successor; (iii) to Dayton (or its 
successor) for deliveries at the points of intercoimection between the Corporation and Dayton or 
its successor; and (iv) to Kentucky, Louisville and Southern Indiana (or their successors) for 
deliveries at the points of intercormection between the Corporation and Louisville or Kentucky, 
or their successors; and (b) any remaining transmission debility available for the delivery of
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Available Power and Available Energy shall be allocated on a pro rata basis (in whole MW 
increments) to the Sponsoring Companies in accordance with Aeir Power Participation Ratios.

9.03. Operation and Maintenance of Systems Involved. Corporation and the 
Sponsoring Companies shall operate their systems in parallel, directly or indirectly, except 
during emergencies that temporarily preclude parallel operadoa The parties hereto agree to 
coordinate their operations to assure maximum continuity of service from the Project Generating 
Stations, and with relation thereto shall cooperate widi one another in the establishment of 
schedules for maintenance and operation of equipment and shall cooperate in the coordination of 
relay protection, frequency control, and communication and telemetering systems. The parties 
shall build, maintain and operate their respective systems in such a manner as to minimize so far 
as practicable rapid fluctuations in energy flow among the systems. The parties shall cooperate 
with one another in the operation of reactive capacity so as to assure mutely satisfactory power 
factor conditions among themselves.

The parties hereto shall exercise due diligence and foresight in carrying out all 
matters related to the providing and operating of their respective power resources so as to 
minimize to the extent practicable deviations between actual and scheduled deliveries of power 
and energy among their systems. The parties hereto shall provide and/or install on their 
respective systems such communication, telemetering, frequency and/or de-line control facilides 
essential to so minimizing such deviadons; and shall fiilly cooperate with one another and with 
third parties (such third parties whose systems are either directly or indirectly interconnected 
with the systems of the Sponsoring Companies and who of necessity together with the parties 
hereto must unify their efforts cooperatively to achieve effective and efficient interconnected 
systems operation) in developing and executing operating procedures that will enable the parties 
hereto to avoid to the extent i^acticable deviations from scheduled deliveries.

In order to foster coordination of the operation and maintenance of Corporation’s 
transmission facilities with those facilities of Sponsoring Companies that are owned or 
functionally controlled by a regional transmission organization or independent system operator, 
Corporation shall use commercially reasonable efforts to enter into a coordination agreement 
mth any regional transmission organization or independent system operator approved by the 
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission that operates transmission facilities that interconnect 
with Corporation’s transmission facilities, and to enter into a mutually agreeable services 
agreement with a regional transmission organization or independent system operator to provide 
the Corporation with reliability and security coordination services and other related services.

9.04. Power Deliveries as Affected by Physical Characteristics of Systems. It is 
recognized that the physical and electrical characteristics of the transmission facilities of the 
interconnected netwoiic of which the transmission systems of the Sponsoring Companies, 
Corporation, and other systems of third parties not parties hereto are a part, may at times 
preclude the direct delivery at the points of interconnection between the transmission systems of 
one or more of the Sponsoring Companies and Corporation, of some portion of the energy 
si^plied under this Agreement, and that in each such case, because of said characteristics, some
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of the energy will be delivered at points which interconnect the system of one or more of the 
Sponsoring Companies with systems of companies not parties to this Agreement. The parties 
hereto shall cooperate in the development of mutually satisfactory arrangements among 
themselves and with such companies not parties hereto whereby the supply of power and energy 
contemplated hereunder can be fulfilled.

9.05. Operating Committee. There shall be an “Operating Committee” 
consisting of one member appointed by the Corporation and one member appointed by each of 
the Sponsoring Companies electing so to do; provided that, if any two or more Sponsoring 
Companies are Affiliates, then such Affiliates shall together be entitled to appoint only one 
member to the Operating Committee. The “Operating Committee” shall establish (and modify as 
necessary) scheduling, operating, testing and maintenance procedures of the Corporation in 
support of this Agreement, including establishing: (i) procedures for scheduling delivery of 
Available Energy under Section 4.03, (ii) procedures for power and energy accounting, (iii) 
procedures for the reservation and scheduling of firm and non^fum transmission service under 
the Tariff for the delivery of Available Power and Available Energy, (iv) the Minimum 
Generating Unit Output, and (v) the form of notifications relating to power and energy and the 
price thereof. In addition, the Operating Committee shall consider and make recommendations 
to Corporation’s Board of Directors with respect to such other problems as may arise affecting 
the transactions under this Agreement The decisions of the Operating Committee, including the 
adoption or modification of any procedure by the Operating Committee pursuant to this Section 
9.04, must receive the affiimative vote of at least two-thirds of the members of the Operating 
Committee, regardless of the number of members of the Operating Committee present at any 
meeting.

9.06. Acknowledgment of Certain Rights. For the avoidance of doubt, all of the 
parties to this Agreement acknowledge and agree that (i) as of the effective date of the Current 
Agreement, certain rights and obligations of the Sponsoring Companies or their predecessors 
under the Original Agreement were changed, modified or otherwise removed, (ii) to the extent 
that the rights of any Sponsoring Company or their predecessors were thereby changed, modified 
or otherwise removed as of the effective date of the Current Agreement, such Sponsoring 
Company may be entitled to tights under applicable law, regulation, rules or orders under the 
Federal Power Act or otherwise adopted by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission 
(“FERC”), (iii) as a result of the elimination as of the effective date of the Current Agreement of 
the firm transmission service previously provided during the term of the Original Agreement to 
Sponsoring Companies or their predecessors whose transmission systems were only indirectly 
connected to the Corporation’s facilities through intervening transmission systems by certain 
Sponsoring Companies or their predecessors whose transmission systems were directly 
connected to the Corporation’s facilities, such Sponsoring Companies or their predecessors 
whose transmission systems were only indirectly connected to the Corporation’s facilities 
through intervening transmission systems shall have been entitled to such “roll over” firm 
transmission service for delivery of their entitlement to their Power Participation Ratio share of 
Surplus Power and Surplus Energy under this Agreement, to the border of such Sponsoring 
Company system and intervening Sponsoring Company system, as would be accorded a long-
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term fiim point-to-point transmission service reservation under the then otherwise applicable 
FERC Open Access Transmission Tariff (“OATT*)» (iv) the obligation of any Sponsoring 
Company to maintain or expand transmission capacity to accommodate another Sponsoring 
Company’s “roll over” rights to transmission service for delivery of their entitlement to their 
Power Participation Ratio share of Surplus Power and Surplus Energy under this Agreement 
shall be consistent with the obligations it would have for long-term firm point-to-point 
transmission service provided pursuant to the then otherwise applicable OATT, and (v) the 
parties shall cooperate with any Sponsoring Company that seeks to obtain and/or exercise any 
such rights available under ^plicable law, regulation, rules or orders under the Federal Power 
Act or othermse adopted by the FERC.

9.07. Term of Agreement This Agreement shall become effective upon the 
Effective Date and shall terminate upon the earlier of: (1) June 30,2040 or (2) the sale or other 
disposition of all of the facilities of the Project Generating Stations or the permanent cessation of

and Sections 9.08,9.09,9.10,9.11,9.12,9.14,9.15,9.16,9.17 and 9.18 shall survive the 
termination of this Agreement, and no termination of this Agreement, for whatever reason, shall 
release any Sponsoring Company of any obligations or liabilities incurred prior to such 
terminatioiL

9.08. Access to Records. Corporation shall, at all reasonable times, upon the 
request of any Sponsoring Company, grant to its representatives reasonable access to the books, 
records and accounts of the Corporation, and furnish such Sponsoring Company such 
information as it may reasonably request, to enable it to determine the accuracy and 
reasonableness of payments made for energy supplied under this Agreement

9.09. Modification of Agreement. Absent the agreement of all parties to this 
Agreement the standard for changes to provisions of this Agreement related to rates proposed by 
a party, a non-party or the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (or a successor agency) 
acting sua sponte shall be the *^blic interest” standard of review set forth in United Gas 
Pipeline Co. v. Mobile Gas Serv, Corp., 350 U.S. 332 (1956) and Federal Power Comm 'n v. 
Sierra Pacific Power Co., 350 U.S. 348 (1956).

9.10. Arbitration. Any controversy, dispute or claim arising out of this 
Agreement or the refusal by any party hereto to perform the whole or any part thereof, shall be 
determined by arbitration, in the City of Columbus, Franklin County, Ohio, in accordance with 
the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association or any successor 
organization, except as otherwise set forth in this Section 9.10.

The party demanding arbitration shall serve notice in writing upon all other 
parties hereto, setting forth in detail the controversy, dispute or claim with respect to which 
arbitration is demanded, and the parties shall thereupon endeavor to agree upon an arbitration 
board, which shall consist of thr^ members (“Arbitrafion Board”). If all the parties hereto fail 
so to agree within a period of thirty (30) days from the original notice, the party demanding
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arbitration may, by written notice to all other parties hereto, direct that any members of the 
Arbitration Board that have not been agreed to by the parties shall be selected by the American 
Arbitration Association, or any successor organization. No person shall be eligible for 
^pointment to the Arbitration Board who is an officer, employee, shareholder of or odienvise 
interested in any of the parties hereto or in the matter sought to be arbitrated.

The Arbitration Board shall afford adequate opportunity to all parties hereto to 
present information with respect to the controversy, dispute or claim submitted to arbitration and 
may request further information from any party hereto; provided, however, that the parties hereto 
may, by mutual agreement, specify the rules which arc to govern any proceeding before the 
Arbitration Board and limit the matters to be considered by the Arbitration Board, in which event 
the Arbitration Board shall be governed by the terms and conditions of such agreement.

The determination or award of the Arbitration Board shall be made upon a 
determination of a majority of the members thereof. The findings and award of the Arbitration 
Board shall be final and conclusive with respect to the controversy, dispute or claim submitted 
for arbitration and shall be binding upon the parties hereto, except as otherwise provided by law. 
The award of the Arbitration Board shall specify the manner and extent of the division of die 
costs of the arbitration proceeding among the parties hereto.

9.11. Liability. The rights and obligations of all the parties hereto shall be 
several and not joint or joint and several.

9.12. Force Majeure. No party hereto shall be held responsible or liable for any 
loss or damage on account of non-delivery of energy hereunder at any time caused by an event of 
Force Majeure. "‘Force Majeure"" shall mean the occunence or non-occunence of any act or 
event that could not reasonably have been expected and avoided by exercise of due diligence and 
foresight and such act or event is beyond the reasonable control of such party, including to the 
extent caused by act of God, fire, flood, explosion, strike, civil or military authority, insurrection 
or riot, act of the elements, or failure of equipment. For the avoidance of doubt, “Force 
Majeure"* shall in no event be based on any Sponsoring Conq>any"s financial or economic 
conditions, including without limitation (i) the loss of the Sponsoring Company’s markets; or (ii) 
the Sponsoring Company’s inability economically to use or resell the Available Power or 
Available Energy purchased hereunder.

9.13. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in 
accordance with, the laws of the State of Ohio.

9.14. Regulatory Approvals. This Agreement is made subject to the jurisdiction 
of any governmental authority or authorities having jurisdiction in the premises and the 
performance thereof shall be subject to the following:

(a) The receipt of all regulatory ^^provals, in form and substance
satisfactory to Corporation, necessary to permit Corporation to perform all the
duties and obligations to be performed by Corporation hereunder.
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(b) The receipt of all regulatory ^provals, in form and substance
satisfactory to the Sponsoring Companies, necessary to permit the Sponsoring
Companies to cany out all transactions contemplate herein.

9.15. Notices. All notices, requests or other communications under this 
Agreement shall be in writing and shall be sufficient in all respects: (i) if delivered in person or 
by courier, upon receipt by the intended recipient or an employee that routinely accepts packages 
or letters from couriers or other persons for delivery to personnel at the address identified above 
(as confinned by, if delivered by courier, the records of such courier), (ii) if sent by facsimile 
transmission, when the sender receives coniinnation from the sending facsimile machine that 
such facsimile transmission was transmitted to the facsimile number of the addressee, or (iii) if 
mailed, upon the date of delivery as shown by the return receipt therefor.

9.16. Waiver. Performance by any party to this Agreement of any responsibility 
or obligation to be performed by such party or compliance by such party with any condition 
contained in this Agreement may by a written instrument signed by all other parties to this 
Agreement be waived in any one or more instances, but the failure of any party to insist in any 
one or more instances upon strict performance of any of the provisions of this Agreement or to 
take advantage of any of its rights hereunder shall not be construed as a waiver of any such 
provisions or the relinquishment of any such rights, but the same shall continue and remain in 
full force and effect.

9.17. Titles of Articles and Sections. The titles of the Articles and Sections in 
this Agreement have been inserted as a matter of convenience of reference and are not a part of 
this Agreement

9.18. Successors and Assigns. This Agreement may be executed in any number 
of counterparts, all of which shall constitute but one and the same document.

9.181 This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon 
the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns, but a party to this 
Agreement may not assign this Agreement or any of its rights, title or interests in or 
obligations (including without limitation the assumption of debt obligations) under this 
Agreement, except to a successor to all or substantially all the properties and assets of 
such party or as i^ovided in Section 9.182 or 9.183, without the written consent of all the 
other parties hereto.

9.182 Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 9.181, any Sponsoring 
Company shall be permitted to, upon thirty (30) days notice to the Corporation and each 
other Sponsoring Company, without any furdier action by the Corporation or the other 
Sponsoring Companies, assign all or part of its rights, title and interests in, and 
obligations under this Agreement to a Permitted Assignee, provided that the assignee and 
assignor of the rights, title and interests in, and obligations under, this Agreement have 
executed an assignment agreement in form and substance acceptable to the Corporation
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in its reasonable discretion (including, without limitation, the agreement by the 
Sponsoring Company assigning such rights, title and interests in, and obligations under, 
this Agreement to reimburse the Corporation and the other Sponsoring Companies for 
any fees or expenses required under any security issued, or agreement entered into, by the 
Corporation as a result of such assignment, including without limitation any consent fee 
or additional financing costs to the Corporation under the Corporation’s then-existing 
securities or agreements resulting from such assignment).

9.183 Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 9.181, any Sponsoring 
Company shall be permitted to, subject to compliance with all of the requirements of this 
Section 9.183, assign all or part of its rights, tide and interests in, and obligations imder 
this Agreement to a Third Party without any further action by the Corporation or the 
other Sponsoring Companies.

(a) A Sponsoring Company (the transferring Sponsor”) that 
desires to assign all or part of its rights, title and interests in, and 
obligations under this Agreement to a Third Party shall deliver an Offer 
Notice to the Corporation and each other Sponsoring Company. The Offer 
Notice shall be darned to be an irrevocable offer of the subject rights, title 
and interests in, and obligations under this Agreement to each of the other 
Sponsoring Companies that is not an Affiliate of the Transferring Sponsor, 
which offer must be held open for no less than thirty (30) days fix>m the 
date of the Offer Notice (the “Election Period”^.

(b) The Sponsoring Companies (other than the Transferring 
Sponsor and its Affiliates) shall first have the right, but not the obligation, 
to purchase all of the rights, title and interests in, and obligations under 
this Agreement described in the Offer Notice at the price and on the terms 
specified therein by delivering written notice of such election to the 
Transfeiring Sponsor and the Corporation within the Election Period; 
provided that, irrespective of the terms and conditions of the Offer Notice, 
a Sponsoring Company may condition its election to purchase the interest 
described in the Offer Notice on the receipt of approv^ or consent from 
such Sponsoring Company’s Board of Directors; provided further that, 
written notice of such conditional election must be delivered to the 
Transferring Sponsor and the Corporation within the Election Period and 
such conditional election shall be deemed withdrawn (as if it had never 
been provided) unless the Sponsoring Company that delivered such 
conditional election subsequently delivers written notice to the 
Transferring Sponsor and fee Corporation on or before fee tenth (10**^ day 
after fee expiration of the Election Period that all necessary ^rproval or 
consent of such Sponsoring Company’s Board of Directors have been 
obtained. To fee extent that more than one Sponsoring Company 
exercises its right to purchase all of the rights, title and interests in, and
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obligations under this Agreement described in the Offer Notice in 
accordance with the previous sentence, such rights, title and interests in, 
and obligations under this Agreement shall be allotted (successively if 
necessary) among the Sponsoring Companies exercising such right in 
proportion to their respective Power Participation Ratios.

(c) Each Sponsoring Company exercising its right to purchase 
any rights, title and interests in, and obligations under this Agreement 
pursuant to this Section 9.183 may choose to have an Affiliate purchase 
such rights, title and interests in, and obligations under this Agreement; 
provided that notwithstanding anything in this Section 9.183 to the 
contrary, any assignment to a Sponsoring Company or its Affiliate 
hereunder must comply with the requirements of Section 9.182.

(d) If one or more Sponsoring Companies have elected to
purchase all of the rights, title and interests in, and obligations under this 
Agreement of the Transferring Sponsor pursuant to the Offer Notice, the 
assignment of such rights, title and interests in, and obligations imder this 
Agreement shall be consummated as soon as practical after the delivery of 
the election notices, but in any event no later than fifteen (15) days after 
the filing and receipt, as applicable, of all necessary governmental filings, 
consents or other ^)provals and the expirafion of all qjplicable waiting 
periods. At the closing of the purchase of such rights, title and interests in, 
and obligations under this Agreement from the Transferring Sponsor, the 
Transferring Sponsor shall provide representations and warranties 
customary for transactions of this type, including those as to its title to 
such securities and that there are no liens or other encumbrances on such 
securities (other than pursuant to this Agreement) and shall sign such 
documents as may reasonably be requested by the Corporation and the 
other Sponsoring Companies. The Sponsoring Companies or their 
Affiliates shall only be required to pay cash for the rights, title and 
interests in, and obligations under this Agreement being assigned by the 
Transferring Sponsor. ^

(e) To the extent that the Sponsoring Companies have not 
elected to purchase all of the rights, title and interests in, and obligations 
under this Agreement described in the Offer Notice, the Transferring 
Sponsor may, within one-hundred and eighty (180) days after the later of 
the expiration of the Election Period or the deemed withdrawal of a 
conditional election by a Sponsoring Company under Section 9.183(b) 
hereof (if applicable), enter into a definitive agreement to, assign such 
rights, title and interests in, and obligations under this Agreement to a 
Third Party at a price no less than 92.5% of the purchase price specified in 
the Offer Notice and on other material terms and conditions no more
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favorable to the such Third Party than those speciHed in the Offer Notice; 
nmvided that aiich purchases shall be conditioned upon: (i) such Third 
Party having long-term unsecured non-credit enhanced indebtedness, as of 
the date of such assignment, with a Standard & Poor’s credit rating of at 
least BBB- and a Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. credit rating of at least 
Baa3 (provided that, if such Third Party’s long-term unsecured non-credit 
enhanced indebtedness is not cunently rated by one of Standard & Poor’s 
or Moody, such Third Party’s long-term unsecured non-credit enhanced 
indebtedness, as of the date of such assignment, must have either a 
Standard & Poor’s credit rating of at least BBB- or a Moody’s Investors 
Service, Inc. credit rating of at least Baa3); (ii) the filing or receipt, as 
applicable, of any necessary governmental filings, consents or o^er 
approvals; (iii) t^ determination by counsel for the Coipomtion that the 
assignment of the rights, title or interests in, or obligations under, this 
Agreement to such Third Party would not cause a termination, default, 
loss or payment obligation under any security issued, or agreement entered 
into, by the Corporation prior to such transfer; and (iv) such Third Party 
executing a counterpart of this Agreement, and both such Third Party and 
the Sponsoring Company which is assigning its rights, title and interests 
in, and obligations under, this Agreement executing such other documents 
as may be reasonably requested by the Corporation (including, without 
limitation, an assignment agreement in form and substance acceptable to 
the Corporation in its reasonable discretion and containing the agreement 
by such Sponsoring Company to reimburse the Corporation and the other 
Sponsoring Companies for any fees or expenses required under any 
security issued, or agreement entered into, by the Corporation as a result 
of such assignment, including without limitation any consent fee or 
additional financing costs to the Corporation under the Corporation’s then- 
existing securities or agreements resulting fix>m such assignment). In the 
event that the Sponsoring Company and a Third Party have not entered 
into a definitive agreement to assign the interests specified in the Offer 
Notice to sw:h Third Party within the later of oi»-himdred and eighty 
(180) days after the expiration of the Election Period or tiu deemed 
withdrawal of a conditional election by a Sponsoring Company under 
Section 9.183(b) hereof (if ^licable) for any reason or if either the price 
to be paid by such Third Party would be less than 92.5% of the purchase 
price specified in the Offer Notice or the other material terms of such 
assignment would be more favorable to such Third Party than the terms 
specified in the Offer Notice, then the restrictions provided for herein shall 
again be effective, and no assignment of any rights, title and interests in, 
and obligations under this Agreement may be made thereafter without 
again offering the same to Sponsoring Companies in accordance with this 
Section 9.183.
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ARTICLE 10

Representations and Warranties

10.01. Representations and Warranties, Each Sponsoring Company hereby 
represents and warrants for itself, on and as of the date of this Agreement, as follows:

(a) it is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing 
under the laws of its state of organization, with lull corporate power, 
authority and legal right to execute and deliver this Agreement and to 
perfonn its obligations hereunder,

(b) it has duly authorized, executed and delivered this 
Agreement, and upon the execution and delivery by all of the parties 
hereto, this Agreement will be in full force and effect, and will constitute a 
legal, valid and binding obligation of such Sponsoring Company, 
enforceable in accordance with the terms hereof, except as enforceability 
may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent 
conveyance, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws affecting the 
enforcement of creditors* rights generally;

(c) Except as set forth in Schedule IQ.Olfc^ hereto, no consents 
or approvals of, or filings or registrations with, any governmental 
authority or public regulatory authority or agency, federal state or local, or 
any other entity or person are required in connection with the execution, 
delivery and performance by it of this Agreement, except for those which 
have been duly obtained or made and are in full force and effect, have not 
been revoked, and are not the subject of a pending ^peal; and

(d) the execution, delivery and performance by it of this 
Agreement will not conflict with or result in any breach of any of the 
terms, conditions or provisions of, or constitute a defriult under its charter 
or by-laws or any indenture or other material agreement or instrument to 
which it is a party or by which it may be bound or result in the imposition 
of any liens, claims or encumbrances on any of its property.

ARTICLE II

Events of Default and Remedies

11.01. Payment Default. Ifany Sponsoring Company fails to make full payment 
to Corporation under this Agreement when due and such failure is not remedied within ten (10) 
days after receipt of notice of such failure from the Corporation, then such failure shall constitute 
a **Payment Default*’ on the part of such Sponsoring Company. Upon a Payment De&ult, the
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Corporation may suspend service to the Sponsoring Company that has caused such Payment 
Default for all or part of the period of continuing de&ult (and such Sponsoring Company shall be 
deemed to have notified the Corporation and the other Sponsoring Companies dial any Available 
Energy shall be available for scheduling by such other Sponsoring Companies in accordance 
with Section 4.032). The Corporation’s right to suspend service shall not be exclusive, but shall 
be in addition to all remedies available to the Corporation at law or in equity. No suspension of 
service or termination of this Agreement shall relieve any Sponsoring Company of its obligations 
under this Agreement, which are absolute and unconditional.

11.02. Performance Default. If the Corporation or any Sponsoring Company 
fails to comply in any material respect with any of the material terms, conditions and covenants 
of this Agreement (and such failure does not constitute a Payment Default under Section 11.01), 
the Corporation (in the case of a default by any Sponsoring Company) and any Sponsoring 
Company (in the case of a default by the Corporation) shall give the defaulting party written 
notice of the default ("Performance Default”). To the extent that a Performance Default is not 
cured within thirty (30) days after receipt of notice diereof (or within such longer period of time, 
not to exceed sixty (60) additional days, as necessary for the defaulting party with the exercise of 
reasonable diligence to cure such default), then the Corporation (in the case of a default by any 
Sponsoring Company) and any Sponsoring Company (in the case of a de&ult by the 
Corporation) shall have all of the rights and remedies provided at law and in equity, other than 
termination of this Agreement or any release of the obligation of the Sponsoring Companies to 
make payments pursuant to this Agreement, which obligation shall remain absolute and 
unconditional.

11.03. Waiver. No waiver by the Corporation or any Sponsoring Company of 
any one or more defaults in the performance of any provision of this Agreement shall be 
construed as a waiver of any other default or deftiults, whether of a like kind or different nature.

11.04. Limitaiion of Liability and Damages. TO THE FULLEST EXTENT 
PERMITTED BY LAW, NEITHER THE CORPORATION, NOR ANY SPONSORING 
COMPANY SHALL BE LIABLE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT FOR ANY 
CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, PUNITIVE, EXEMPLARY OR INDIRECT DAMAGES, 
LOST REVENUES, LOST PROFITS OR OTHER BUSINESS INTERRUPTION DAMAGES. 
BY STATUTE, IN TORT OR CONTRACT, OR OTHERWISE.

[Signature pages follow]
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]N WITNESS WHEREOF, dte patties hereto have caused this Amended and Restated lmer> 
Company Rower Agreement to be duly executed and delivered by their proper and duly 
aaifaai2Pd officen as of Septemba 10,2010.

omo VALLEY ELECnaC 
CORPORATION

APPALACHIAN POWER COMPANY

By
Its

COLUMBUS SOXJTHERN POWER 
COMPANY

ALLEGHENY I34ERGY SUPPLY 
COMPANY, LX.C.

By
Its

BUCKEYE POWER GENERATING, 
LLC

By
Its

THE DAYTON POWER AND 
UGHT COMPANY

By
Its

DUKE ENERGY OHIO, INC

By
Xts

INDUNA MICHIGAN POWER 
COMPANY

By
Its

By
Its

FIRS1ENERGY GENERATION 
CORP.

By
Its

KENTUCKY UTILITIES 
COMPANY

By
Its
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF* Hw parties bento have caused &is Amended and Restated Inter­
company Power Agreement to be dufy executed and deUvered by their proper and duly 
mithmized offioosas of S^rtember 10* 2010.

OHIO VALLBY ELEdlUC 
CORPORATION

By
Its

ALLEGHENY ENERGY SUPPLY 
COMPANY, LX.C.

By
Its

APPALACHIAN POWER COMPANY

COLUMBUS SOUTHERN POWER 
COMPANY

BUCKEYE POWER GENERATING, 
LLC

By
Its

By
Its

DUKE ENERGY OHIO, INC.

By
Its

INDIANA MICHIGAN POWER 
COMPANY

THE DAYTON POWER AND 
UGHT COMPANY

By
Its

FIRSTENERGY GENERATION 
CORP.

By
Its

By
Its

KENTUCKY UmmES 
COMPANY

By
Its
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, die pattiae hes&o have caused this Amended and Restated Inter- 
Con^jany Power Agreement lo be duly executed and delivered by their proper and duly 
Buibotiz^ officers to of September 10,2010.

OHIO VALLEY ELECnaC 
CORPORATION

ALLEGHENY ENERGY SUITLY 
COMPANY, LX.C.

By
Its

By
Its

APPALACHIAN POWER COMPANY BUCKEYE POWER GENERATING, 
LLC

By
Its

By
Its

COLUMBUS SOUTHERN POWER 
COMPANY

By
Its

TEE DAYTON POWER AND 
UGHT COMPANY

By
Its

DUKE ENERGY OHIO, INC FIRSTENERGY GBNERATTON 
CORP.

By
Its By

Its

INDIANA MICHIGAN POWER 
COMPANY

KENTUCKY UTILITIES 
COMPANY

By
Its

By
lu

Amesdad Old Rattled IntBNConpaay PowBrA^esnoa 
S-1
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the p&ties her«to have cmised this Amended and Rfiststed Inter' 
Comp^ Agnemeot to be duly excQuted and delivered by tbeir proper tnd duly
auflionzBd ofiSoen m of September 10,2010.

OHIO VALLEY HfCIHIC 
CORPORATKW

By
It!

ALLEGHENY SWRGY SUPPLY 
COMPANY, Li*C

By
Iti

APPALACHIAN POWER COMPANY

By
Iti

BUCKEYE POWER GENERATING, 
LLC

By
Its

COLUMBUS SOUTHERN POW» 
COMPANY

By
Its

DUKE ENERGY OmO, me

Bs vfeck

INDIANA MICHIGAN POWER 
COMPANY

By
Its

THE DAYTON POWER AND 
UGETT COMPANY

By
Its

FOUnENERGY GENERATION 
COBP.

By
Its

KENTUCKY UTILITIES 
COMPANY

By
Its

AmoM ttd RoMcS ta^Oonpiiy Power AimanS

flWWMKMOBJ A4ii ueaiui4
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PUCO Case No. I7-872-EL-R0R 
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•.3-.

WnN^ dio parties bei^ Iwvo c«oed fhb AmnM ^ Restated JntcN
COTymy Power Agreementto be doly executed and defivened by tfaeir proper and duly 
eeflktiii2Bd cdBcea fts of S^iteoiber 10,2010.

4
OHIQ VALLEY ICLECnaC 
CORFORATlOtt

By
Kf

APPALACHIAN POWER COMPANY

By
Bs

COLUMBUS SOUTHERN POWER 
COMPANY

ALLEGHENY ENQtGY SUPPLY 
COMPANYiLX.C

Its

BUCKEYE POWER GENERATING, 
LLC

By
Its

imUAYtON POWER AND 
UGHTCOMPANY

By
Its

DEKE ENERGY OHIO, INC

fis

By.
its

pmSTENERGY GENERAItON 
CORP*

By
A>

INDIANA MICHIGAN POWER 
CCWPANY

KENTUCKY UmmES 
COMPANY

By
Its

tnm mMMBSAasmiateimK
ai4 RsdSitd lAtcNSoB^M; Powv A|RttnM 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, fht pvtia heselo have caused dds Araended and Restated Inter- 
Coo^sny Power Agnoneat to be duly execoted and ddiveted by their proper and duly 
apflgfized ofBceaa tt of Sqitember 10» 2010.

OHIO VALLEY ELECmC 
CORPORATION

By
Ra

ALLEGHENY ENERGY SUPPLY 
COMPANY, ULC.

Bv
yr*??r?3sii

A^ALACHIAN POWER COMPANY

By
Rb

BUCKEYE POWER GENERATING, 
LLC

By
Its

COLUMBUS SOUTHERN POWER 
COMPANY

By
Rs

DUKE ENERGY OHIO, INC

THE DAYTON POWER AND 
UGHT COMPANY

By
Its

FIRffTOIERGY GQSERATION 
CORP.

By
Its

INDIANA MICHIGAN POWER 
COMPANY

By
Its

By
Its

KENTUCKY UnUTlES 
COMPANY

By
Its

AMBded and ResWid iBtBrCanpwiy Poiw AgreenMit
ntanM4
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amended and Restated Inter­
company Powa Agreement to be duly executed and delivexed by their proper and duly 
authorized ofiicci 8 as of September 10,2010

OHIO VALLEY ELECTIUC 
CORPORATION

By
Its

ALLEGHENY ENERGY SUPPLY 
COMPANY, LX.C,

By
Its

APPALACHIAN POWER COMPANY

By
Its

BUCKEYE POWER GENERATING, 
LLC

Its Preaident&

COLUMBIA SOUTHERN POWER 
COMPANY

By
Its

DUKE ENERGY OHIO, INC.

THE DAYTON POWER AND 
UGHT COMPANY

By
Its

FTRSTENERGY GENERATION 
CORP.

By
Its

INDIANA MICHIGAN POWER 
COMPANY

By
Its

KENTUCKY UTILITIES 
COMPANY

By
Its

By
Its

IP0MMIMS.qma Auin.l3PMH64

Anended sod Restated liuer>CoisptBy Power Agreement 
S-1
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amended and Restated Jnler- 
Conqany Power Agreement to bo duly executed end delivered by their proper end duly 
auflinriged officers «s of Septsnber 10.2010.

OHIO VALLEY ELECTRIC 
CORPORATION

By
Its

ALLEGHENY ENERGY SUPPLY 
COMPANY, L.L.C.

By
Its

APPALACHIAN POWER COMPANY

By
Ha

BUCKEYE POWER GENERATING, 
LLC

By
Its

COLUMBUS SOUTHERN POWER 
COMPANY

By
Its

DUKE ENERGY OHia INC.

By
Bs

INDIANA MICHIGAN POWER 
COMPANY

By
Its

THE DAYTON POWER AND 
UGHTCOMPANY

By /Its ^
Skf Benson

FIRSTENERGY GENERATION 
CORP.

By
Its

KENTUCKY UTILITIES 
COMPANY

By
Its

flNHMIll-CSnMdIw 120S1K4

Asioxkd and Rented Imxr-Coapaoy Power Agreeinent 
S-t
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IN WTHfESS WHEREOF, 1h» paitlei hsT» caused flm Ame&ded nd Restated Jot«^
CcppaiyFwer.AgroeiBMtto be duly CBcecnted and ddiveied^thftlf proper and duly 
aaftodssd offican M of Saptaibai 10,203 0.

OHIO VALUYELECnUC 
COKPOKATION

By
Its

ALLEGHENY KNniGY SUPPLY 
anHPANY.LJLC

By
Us

APPALACHIAN POWER COMPANY

By
Its

BUCKEYE POWER GENERATING, 
ILC

By
Its

COLUMHU8 SOUTHERN POWER 
COMPANY

By
Its

DUKE ENERGY OHIO, INC

By
Its

IHBBAYTON POWER AND 
UGHTCCXHPANY

By
Ba

FUnnENERGY GENERATION 
CORF.

ByRs y 7_

INDIANAMICHIGANPOWKI
COMPANY

By
Its

KENTUCKY tmLITIBS 
COMPANY

By
Its

ittidrtaaSKMiiirtTHtgCiMiyMyPBiwrAiWBiil
nmnifWHKiirwniM
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IN WTTNESS 'WHEREOF, the parties hoeto have caused this Amended and Restated lnte^ 
Company Power Agreemeot to be duly executed and delivered by their proper and duly 
authorized o£5cets as of September 10,2010.

OHIO VALLEY ELECTRIC 
CORPORATION

By
Its

ALLEGHENY ENERGY SUPPLY 
COMPANY, LI..C

By
Its

APPALACHIAN POWER COMPANY

By
Its

BUCKEYE POWER GENERATING, 
LLC

By
Its

COLUMBUS SOUTHERN POWER 
COMPANY

By
Its

DUKE ENERGY OHIO, INC

THE DAYTON POWER AND 
UGHT COMPANY

By
Its

FHOTENERGY GENERA1TON 
CORP.

By
Its

INDIANA MICHIGAN POWER 
COMPANY

By
Its

KENTUCKY UTILITIES 
COMPANY

By
Its

By
Its

1»S1U4

AaMUded and Raatal IatB«Canpiny Power Agreement 
S-1
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LOUlSVnXE GAS AND ELECnUC 
COMPANY

OHIO POWER COMPANY

K^NONGAHELA POWER 
COMPANY

By
Its

SOUTHERN INDIANA GAS AND 
ELECTRIC COMPANY

By
Its By

Its

Artfw UBKI144

Amended nd Ratasd laterCompuy Powa Agreenenl 
S-2



LOVISmUS GAS AND ELECTRIC 
COMPANY

By
Its

OHIO TOWER COMPANY

Its
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MONONGAHELA POWER 
COMPANY

By
Its

SOUTHERN INDIANA GAS AND 
ELECTRIC COMPANY

By
Its

OSOMMOIMOO^wWw 13HUU44

Aneoded tzid Resttted Isux-Conqaey Power Agtemeni 
S3



LOLIisVlLLE GAS AND SLECIIUC 
COMPANY

By
Its

OHIO POTOR COMPANY

By
Its

PUCO CSM No. 17•87^EL-RDR 
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MONOMGAHKLA POWER 
COMPANY ^-----5

^9^

SOOTHERN INDIANA GAS AND 
ELECTRIC COMPANY

By
bs

Aneaded Md RenM tMBihCanp^ Power AiRaaeni 
M

lUBMlM



lX>imiLl£ GAS AND ELECTRIC 
COMPANY

By
Its

OHIO POWER COMPANY

By
Its
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MONONGAHELA POWER 
COMPANY

By
Its

SOUTHERN INDIANA GAS AND 
ELECTRIC COMPANY

By
Its £ks/JCeAL-

aOWMinS40{B5-M« umillf 4
AuMoOed and Rcsned (mer-Cccnpajiy Power Agreetoenl 

S2
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JWISSVLA. GENERATION COOPERATIVE

By BmilriBr BeCogor 
Its President_______

TO FORM:

BRIAN B. VALICE 
ATTORNBy FOR PENBSULA 
GENBRATIO*^ COOPERAITVB

I—MWKwn UBiwimniM
A—SiSsiJffwtileniSi Cummij Power AyMBwai


